### THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO

## FACTORS INFLUENCING RNA VIRUS TROPISM

# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE DIVISION OF THE BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES AND THE PRITZKER SCHOOL OF MEDICINE IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# COMMITTEE ON MICROBIOLOGY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

KEVIN FURLONG

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

AUGUST 2020

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Acknowledgements	vi
Abstract	vii
Chapter I: Introduction	1
Overview	1
Introduction to human norovirus	3
Introduction to murine norovirus and CD300LF	4
Introduction to influenza virus	7
miRNA and RISC	12
Host factors and RNA viruses	15
Chapter II: CD300LF polymorphisms of inbred mouse strains confer resistance to mu	ırine
norovirus infection in a cell type-dependent manner	18
Abstract	18
Importance	19
Introduction	20
Materials and methods	21
Results	28
Discussion	35
Acknowledgements	38
Chapter III: Endothelial cell tropism does not play a major role in H7N7 pathogenesis	s39
Abstract	39

Importance	40
Introduction	40
Materials and Methods	
Results	45
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	54
Chapter IV: Conclusions	55
References	
Appendix I: Tables	
Appendix II: Figures	

# List of Tables

Table 2.1: BV2 variant infection phenotypes.	.75
Table 2.1: Alignment of CD300LF Coding Sequences	76

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1: I/LnJ BMDMs resist MNV infection
Figure 2.2: I/LnJ BMDMs are resistant to different strains of MNV
Figure 2.3: I/LnJ BMDMs expressing C57BL/6J CD300LF are susceptible to MNV infection82
Figure 2.4: Identification of seven amino acids determining the functionality of CD300LF as an
MNV receptor
Figure 2.5: A cluster of four amino acids determines the functionality of CD300LF as an MNV
receptor
Figure 2.6: Residues critical for MNV infection occur in the CC'-loop flanking the phospholipid
binding pocket of CD300LF
Figure 2.7: I/LnJ CD300LF can function as an MNV receptor in a cell type-dependent manner.88
Figure 2.8: I/LnJ CD300LF supports MNV attachment in a cell-type dependent manner
Figure 2.9: I/LnJ mice are susceptible to MNV infection
Figure 3.1: Targeted H7N7 NP production is restricted upon co-expression of complementary miRNA
Figure 3.2: Targeted H7N7 replication is restricted <i>in vitro</i> in a cell type-specific manner92
Figure 3.3: Infection with targeted H7N7 is comparable to infection with control virus
Figure 3.4: H7N7 variants replicate to similar titers in mouse lungs
Figure 3.5: H7N7 extravasation to non-pulmonary tissue is rare

#### Acknowledgements

The path that led to the development of the work presented in this thesis was a winding one, and it took the dedication of so many to keep it on track. There are those in particular without whom this work would certainly have never gotten completed. I would like to thank my first mentors, Balaji Manicassamy and Jasmine Perez, whose guidance allowed me to develop the skills that I would use throughout the remainder of my time at the university. I would like to thank Seungmin Hwang, whose passion for and dedication to research inspired my continued development. I would like to everyone with whom I was fortunate enough to share lab space, on whose enthusiasm I was able to rely every day – Matheswaran Kandasamy, Julianna Han, Olivia Vogel, Jayoung Choi, Hailey Brown, Scott Biering, Gayoung Park, Soowon Kang, Chaitanya Kurhade, Vlad Nicolaescu, Ellen Ketter, Cathy So, Josh Hackney, Natalia Povarova, Steve Dvorkin, and Shamila Sarwar. I would like to thank my thesis committee for their expertise and guidance in a frequently uncertain situation: Stephen Meredith, Michaela Gack, and Juegi Chen. I would like to acknowledge my family, especially my mother and late father, whose unyielding love and support allowed me to pursue any goal I could imagine, both within and beyond science. Finally, I would like to acknowledge my current mentor, Glenn Randall, for supporting and believing in me from the beginning of my time in Chicago up to this point and beyond. Thank you for being the only constant in a constantly shifting experience. It has made all of the difference.

vi

#### Abstract

Human norovirus (HNV) is a positive sense RNA virus that is the most common cause of gastroenteritis worldwide. Despite active interest in pursuing vaccination and therapies, there are currently no well-established cell culture or animal models for studying this virus or other wellcharacterized noroviruses. Murine norovirus (MNV) is a distinct yet closely related norovirus that replicates and can be grown in well-characterized cell culture systems and can cause measurable morbidity and mortality in mice, and is thus a useful proxy for HNV study. Recent work with MNV identified a proteinaceous receptor, murine CD300LF, as a major determinant of susceptibility to MNV. Depletion of CD300LF from an otherwise susceptible host cell results in resistance to the virus and expression of the virus on many common otherwise MNV-resistant immortalized cell lines results in susceptibility. Importantly, initial studies into CD300LF focused on the C57BL/6J-like variant of the protein found in a variety of inbred mouse lines, though other variants exist. Inoculation of bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) taken from I/LnJ mice yielded no detectable virus, suggesting resistance to the virus. After expression of the C57BL/6J variant of CD300LF on the otherwise-resistant I/LnJ BMDMs resulted in detectable viral replication, we hypothesized that endogenous I/LnJ CD300LF was nonfunctional as an MNV receptor. Expression of C57BL/6J and I/LnJ variants of CD300LF on the macrophage-like cell line BV2 yielded the same infection phenotypes for each variant. Comparison of these variants with a third variant, CAST/EiJ, led to the identification of a four amino acid cluster that differs between the original two variants that underlies their phenotype. Surprisingly, expression of either of these variants on other immortalized cell lines results in susceptibility to MNV, suggesting the existence of other determinants of CD300LF-mediated susceptibility to MNV.

Influenza A virus (IAV) is a negative sense RNA virus that results in significant mortality worldwide each year from seasonal epidemics. Several known strains of IAV also pose the risk of becoming a pandemic threat via genomic reassortment in nonhuman hosts, often with significantly increased rates of mortality in exposed individuals. As attempts to create universal IAV vaccines have been unsuccessful, it becomes critical to understand the pathogenesis of pandemic strains to inform potential therapies to ensure widespread availability before such a pandemic. To this end, studies into H5N1, a strain of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) considered to be among the most dangerous have identified several key factors, including endothelial cell tropism as critical for pathogenesis. We attempted to expand the understanding of HPAI pathogenesis by probing the contribution of endothelial cell tropism to the virulence and pathogenesis of H7N7, another virulent HPAI strain with the capacity to infect humans. Introduction of sequences complementary to tissue-specific microRNA (miRNA) into H7N7 mRNA restricting replication in endothelial cells and monocyte derived cells do not indicate a major role for such tissue tropism, indicating distinct pathogenesis from H5N1. These investigations into the role of host factors for RNA viruses underscore the notion that viral replication cannot take place without contributions from a host and indicate the importance of understanding the interplay between host and pathogen.

#### **Chapter I: Introduction**

#### **Overview**

Viruses are causative agents of some of the most catastrophic life loss in human history. Worldwide pandemics including the past 1918 Spanish flu up to and including the current SARS-COV-2 pandemics have fundamentally altered the manner in which many consider the value of human life. As a result, the discovery and subsequent study of viruses as both unique forms of life and causative agents of disease has led not only to the preservation of human life, but also to the prevention of suffering and easing of symptoms for countless individuals. Diseases caused by viral infection can vary as much as the viruses themselves and as a result, their impact on the hosts they infect can also vary; some infections may be entirely asymptomatic with no detectible effect on the host, some infections may lead to mild disease, and some may seriously threaten the life of the host. The study of viruses with more serious potential impact on humans has the capacity to immediately prevent the most suffering.

A major determining factor governing the ability of a virus to cause such suffering is its ability to infect various host cells. Defined by the combination of permissiveness, or the capacity of a host cell to support the replication cycle of a virus completely, and susceptibility, the state of expressing necessary receptors for viral entry, viral tropism can underlie the most critical facets of infection. As the expression of the factors required for viral entry into host cells and/or replication within those host cells can be restricted at any level including species and host tissue, understanding the cells a virus could potentially infect can inform understanding of pathogenesis on both a micro and macro scale. The understanding that host factors required to support viral replication exist in other nonhuman animals can be used for any number of purposes, including

developing laboratory *in vitro* systems to study viruses in a controlled setting to quickly identifying diseases afflicting susceptible animals and controlling outbreak. Such understanding has a continuous impact on worldwide economies, with a common example being influenza virus infection in domestic poultry, which are regularly checked for influenza virus infection due to their capacity to support replication of the virus absent symptoms or human hosts. Protection of workers and other poultry farms by culling thousands of animals due to the detection of influenza infection is not uncommon, with predictably severe economic impact (1, 2).

Viral pathogenesis within a host is also broadly determined by tissue tropism within the host for many viruses. Indeed, the disease state inflicted upon a host due to viral replication is often easily understood upon consideration of susceptible host cells. An example of this include Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) resulting in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) caused in part by the requirement of HIV to infect cells expressing CD4, a glycoprotein whose expression is restricted to tissue types involved in the immune response (3-5). Herein, I will probe the role of two unique host factors in the replication and virulence of two unique viruses, seeking to understand the role of each of them in conferring susceptibility and contributing to virulence of their respective hosts. Specifically, I will examine the role of CD300LF in conferring susceptibility to murine norovirus in a variety of host cells and potential molecular determinants of such susceptibility. I will also examine the role of endothelial cell tropism in the pathogenesis and virulence of H7N7, a highly pathogenic strain of avian influenza virus.

#### Introduction to human norovirus

Human norovirus (HNV), originally known as the "Norwalk agent" due to an outbreak in Norwalk, Ohio is currently the leading cause of gastroenteritis worldwide (6, 7). HNV is a member of the *Calciviridae* family and encodes a single-stranded, positive sense RNA genome (8, 9). Translation of the HNV genome yields a large polyprotein that is subsequently cleaved into two structural proteins and six nonstructural proteins (8, 9). While the basic virology of HNV has been characterized, further in-depth study of the virus has historically been challenging due to the lack of robust, adaptable model systems both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Despite early evidence that HNV RNA is infectious in mammalian cell culture, subsequent steps to simplify research including growing significant quantities of virus and measuring multicycle replication have proven challenging (10). Challenges in growth of the virus have included low infectious titer and interference in titer confirmation from helper viruses (10-14). More recent attempts using plasmid and replicon-based approaches have been nominally more successful in stable production of viral RNA and capsid protein, though the infectivity of potential progeny virions is at issue due to the lack of susceptible mammalian cells (9, 11). Similarly, attempts have been made to establish a small animal model for HNV infection, which have resulted in varying degrees of success. A model employing an immunocompromised BALB/c line has shown an ability to support HNV replication, but has yet to be adopted by many groups (15). Despite the clear and present concern caused by HNV, the laboratory models required for efficient testing in vitro and in vivo do not yet exist.

#### Introduction to murine norovirus and CD300LF

Despite these challenges in studying HNV and other noroviruses directly, useful surrogates have allowed for the advancement of norovirus research. One such surrogate is murine norovirus (MNV) a strain of norovirus closely related to HNV first discovered in 2003 as a pervasive, lethal agent in immunocompromised (Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>, STAT1<sup>-/-</sup>) mice (16). Isolation and sequencing of MNV, followed by maximum parsimony analysis of the major viral capsid protein (VP1) of MNV has identified it as a member of the norovirus genus, but genetically distinct from other, non-murine noroviruses (16, 17). Importantly, MNV is unique among noroviruses in that it is the only member currently known to infect and replicate in model *in vitro* systems, making rapid growth and study of the virus possible (16, 17). Not only can MNV replicate in easily manipulated cell culture systems, but initial isolation of MNV from laboratory mice suggests that the virus can be studied in well-characterized small animal models (16). Indeed, MNV proteins and RNA can be detected in WT animals post-inoculation and lethal infection is easily achieved in immunocompromised animals (16). The importance of these observations cannot be overstated, especially when compared to the tools that currently exist for other noroviruses. Models of infection for porcine and bovine noroviruses in their respective hosts exist, but are currently limited by a lack of a tissue culture model and are thus restricted in application in a manner similar to HNV (16-18). Further, advances in manipulation of the murine genome itself allow for sophisticated analyses of the role of host factors in viral replication. The lack of such tractability in tissue culture and animal models for other noroviruses limits their study in ways that do not inhibit MNV. Initial work into the establishment of an *in vitro* system for MNV showed strong, multicycle replication in macrophage and macrophage-like systems (16). Bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs), bone marrow derived stem cells that are differentiated

into macrophages via exposure to growth factors, are a common host for several other viruses. As BMDMs can be harvested from murine models of any genetic background, they are a useful tool for studying the role of host factors without having to infect whole animals.

Both BMDMs and well-characterized immortalized macrophage-like systems including RAW 264.7 and BV2 cells support replication of MNV and recent studies employing these systems has contributed to the rapid understanding of the MNV life cycle (16, 19). Among the most significant contributions to the understanding of MNV was the discovery of CD300LF as the major receptor for and determinant of susceptibility to MNV (20, 21). Also known as CLM-1, CMRF35, MAIR-V, and LMIR3, CD300LF was first characterized as a member of the multigene CD300 family as an inhibitory factor of osteoclast differentiation (22). Two independent, unbiased studies seeking to identify host factors that contribute to MNV infection identified murine CD300LF (henceforth CD300LF) as indispensable for MNV infection (20, 21). These and following studies have since shown that CD300LF contributes to attachment and internalization of the virus into host cells and that loss of CD300LF expression is sufficient to block infection of these cells by MNV (20, 21, 23). CD300LF expression is most abundant in cells of the myeloid lineage (22). CD300LF expression is not limited to mice and expression of human CD300LF is detectable in human myeloid cells (22). Despite their similarities, studies into human CD300LF (hCD300LF) have shown that it cannot serve as an entry factor for MNV, making human cells immune to MNV infection in vitro (20, 24). This is likely the primary reason that humans are not susceptible to MNV infection. Surprisingly, lack of expression of murine CD300LF seems to be the only barrier preventing cells that are not susceptible to MNV infection from becoming so. Indeed, cells that are genetically distinct from murine myeloid cells can be made susceptible to MNV infection through stable expression of some alleles of

CD300LF (20). The ability to confer susceptibility to otherwise resistant cells in a CD300LF expression-dependent manner is not limited to other murine-derived cells, as human epithelial cells expressing murine CD300LF are also susceptible, suggesting that intracellular factors required to support MNV replication other than CD300LF are likely not unique to individual cell types (20).

The replication cycle of MNV is reminiscent of other *Calciviridae* and other small, positive sense, single stranded RNA viruses. After internalization of the virion via interaction with CD300LF, early proteins packaged within the virion and early products of translation of the positive sense genome result in reshaping of the host cell's internal membrane structure and the formation of replication complexes to house continued genomic and subgenomic RNA products (16, 17). Continued translation of the first, second, and third open reading frames of the MNV genome results in the production of a large polyprotein comprising six nonstructural proteins (NS1/2-NS7), the structure viral capsid protein VP1, and a smaller structural protein VP2 (16, 17). Recent work has identified a fourth open reading frame, which produces a small, mitochondria-localized protein that confers a fitness advantage but is dispensable for MNV replication, VF1 (25). Following membrane remodeling and compartmentalization within a replication complex, the genome is replicated and the virus lyses the host cell (18).

MNV host cell tropism is an area of active study due in part to its ability to inform understanding of the pathogenesis of HNV. Initial characterization of MNV infection in immunocompromised (STAT1<sup>-/-</sup>) yielded detectable virus in a wide variety of tissues, including lung, liver, spleen, proximal intestine, and brain (16). Staining of mice infected with MNVcontaining brain homogenates shows virus-specific staining in liver and spleen-adjacent cells, with resident macrophage and dendritic cells showing clear staining (18). Despite this, staining

of inoculated murine hepatocytes *in vitro* shows no obvious staining, suggesting that macrophages and dendritic cells themselves may be among the most susceptible to MNV infection (17, 18). Further study into MNV replication *in vitro* reveals that many cells of hematopoietic lineage support MNV replication (18). This is especially interesting given the capacity for both MNV and HNV to infect the proximal colon of their respective hosts, suggesting that while colonic epithelial cells may be susceptible to norovirus infection, they may not be the only or indeed primary site of replication. Subsequent *in vivo* studies of MNV have suggested that Tuft cells, a unique cell type known to populate the intestinal epithelium in mice may contribute to the overall viral load of infected hosts, further complicating understanding of viral pathogenesis (26). Infections in immunocompetent neonates also show susceptibility in a range of different cell types and produces gastrointestinal pathology similar to HNV (Karst, unpublished). While it is clear that intestinal epithelial cells and macrophages both support MNV replication *in vitro* and *in vivo*, the understanding of MNV viral tropism and its contribution to pathogenesis remains poorly understood.

#### Introduction to influenza virus

Influenza virus is the causative agent for the disease influenza – a common respiratory illness worldwide. Influenza viruses themselves are members of the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, lipidated virions encoding a negative sense RNA genome comprised of 8 segments encoding 10 viral proteins. Replication of the virus begins with the viral glycoprotein hemagglutinin (HA) engaging sialic acid residues on the host cell membrane, triggering attachment of the virion and eventual clathrin-mediated endocytosis or macropinocytosis of the entire lipidated virion (27-29). The lipidated-virion containing endosome is then acidified, resulting in a conformation

change in the virion and eventual fusion of the viral membrane with the endosome, cleavage of the HA protein, and release of the vRNP into the cytoplasm of the host cell, where the viral genome is imported into the host nucleus (30-34). From here, the genome is replicated and the mRNA is transcribed, primed by hijacking the host 5' cap machinery, increasing efficiency (35, 36). Subsequent translation of the viral mRNA and packaging of an individual copy of each segment of the genome aided by the packaging signal in each segment of the genome results in new vRNPs which are enveloped and cleaved from the host membrane via the viral neuraminidase (NA) glycoprotein, releasing infectious virions (37-39).

Influenza viruses constitute four of the seven genera that comprise the Orthomyxoviridae family. These genera, known as influenza A virus, influenza B virus, influenza C virus, and influenza D virus are divided principally on their genome structure and primary host species. Of these four genera, influenza D virus is not known to infect humans (40, 41). Influenza A, B, and occasionally C can infect humans, though epidemics are most often caused by influenza A viruses, influenza B viruses to a lesser extent, and rarely influenza C viruses (42). Seasonal epidemics of influenza results in millions of hospitalizations per year, with an estimated 389,000 deaths on average per year between 2002 and 2011 worldwide, the majority of which are caused by influenza A virus (IAV) infection (43). In addition to seasonal epidemics, pandemic strains including the 1918 Spanish flu and the 2009 Swine flu present an unpredictable threat to human health. Despite this, efforts at long-term, universal vaccination against IAV have heretofore been unsuccessful, due in part to the constantly changing nature of the virus. As with other RNA viruses, the IAV polymerase imperfectly replicates the genome, resulting in accumulation of non-deleterious mutations over time in a process known as antigenic drift (44). Additionally, segmentation of the genome affords influenza the unique ability to exchange similar segments of

its genome with other IAV strains in the case of coinfection. This process, known as antigenic shift, can result in novel IAV subtypes to which the majority of the population is immunologically naïve (45). Together, these processes make development of effective prophylactics for IAV challenging.

Discussion of individual strains and resistance to IAV typically consider two of the influenza glycoproteins, which have historically been the major target for neutralizing antibodies. These proteins, hemagglutinin (HA, H) and neuraminidase (NA, N) are primarily responsible for entry and egress from host cells respectively and tend to be associated with the virulence of an individual strain (46). As such, certain HA and NA types are associated with more virulent strains of the virus. To date, there are 18 known HA subtypes and 11 known NA subtypes (47). Of these HA subtypes, humans are known to be susceptible to viruses with at least eight different segments while others circulate within other animal hosts (48). Indeed, influenza viruses are capable of infecting a wide range of different host types, with several subtypes known to be restricted to such nonhuman hosts. Water fowl serve as a reservoir for the majority of these subtypes, with evidence of subtypes H1-H16 all found within them while H17 and H18 are currently thought to be restricted to bats (48-50). An unfortunate consequence of water fowl and other animals supporting replication of such a wide array of different influenza subtypes is the ability for different viruses to coinfect an individual and produce new strains of virus via antigenic shift undetected. From here, interaction with domestic poultry can result in widespread disease, resulting in the culling of thousands of animals and severe economic loss (1).

Continued passage of IAV in non-human hosts can result in strains that pose significant danger to humans. Occasionally, novel viruses passed from water fowl to domestic poultry can be passed to nearby humans. These viruses, known as avian influenza viruses after their original

hosts, tend to be highly virulent in humans hosts, have high mortality rates, and are among those considered to be the most potent potential pandemic threats (51, 52). One such avian virus, H7N9, is currently spreading rapidly and poses significant threat to human life in China and is currently considered to have the greatest potential to cause a pandemic, lacking only the capacity for efficient airborne transmission among potential hosts, including humans (53, 54). Other avian influenza viruses including H5N1 and H7N7 have demonstrated the ability to move from domestic poultry to humans and threaten to become the next pandemic strain (52, 55-57). Influenza virus is among the most potential infectious diseases currently known and although studies thus far have greatly enhanced our understanding of the virus, we lack the ability to reliably protect the human population at large from predictable seasonal epidemics and are relatively unprepared for a coming pandemic.

The pathogenesis of influenza virus depends heavily on both viral virulence factors as well as host factors and thus can differ between hosts and strains of the virus. A key factor in viral tropism of potential hosts is the availability of host sialic acid moieties with specific linkage patterns. Current seasonal epidemic strains of IAV nearly exclusively bind to cells expressing  $\alpha 2,6$  sialic acid linkages, which are most commonly found on epithelial cells in the upper respiratory tract of humans, informing the potential disease state of the virus (58, 59). The requirement of  $\alpha 2,6$  linked sialic acids restricts epidemic IAV strains to replication in the upper respiratory tract of humans, thus restricting spread of the virus and ultimately resulting in a mild disease. Importantly, these viruses replicate to high titers in the upper respiratory tract, contributing to the ease of spread of the virus. To facilitate viral membrane fusion with the host endosomal membrane and begin translocation of the IAV genome to the host nucleus for transcription and replication, the viral HA protein must be cleaved at a specific site by a host

protease (31, 32). Seasonal epidemic strains of IAV encode a single basic amino acid at this HA cleavage site, resulting in a motif that can only be recognized by trypsin-like proteases in humans (60, 61). These proteases are largely restricted to the respiratory tract of humans, further informing the tropism of the virus and the relatively mild disease state as a result. While it has been shown that mutations in many different IAV proteins can result in a change in virulence, restriction to the upper respiratory tract through the requirement of  $\alpha 2$ , 6 sialic acid linkages for attachment and trypsin-like proteases for vRNP release separate epidemic and pandemic IAV pathogenesis (62-68).

Pathogenesis of pandemic and pandemic-potential IAV differs from that of non-pandemic strains due in part to slightly altered host cell tropism. While seasonal epidemic strains of IAV require  $\alpha 2.6$  sialic acid linkages, more virulent strains of the virus can bind either preferentially or entirely to  $\alpha 2$ , 3 linkages, which are expressed primarily on the epithelial cells of the alveoli in the lower respiratory tract in humans (58, 59, 69). As cells expressing  $\alpha 2$ , 3 linkages are fewer in number and deeper within the human respiratory tract compared to those expressing  $\alpha 2$ , 6 linkages, viruses with a strong preference for binding  $\alpha 2,3$  linked sialic acid moieties have differing pathogenesis and virulence (46, 69). This phenomenon is likely due in part to a combination of the requirement to translocate to the lower respiratory tract of a new potential host and the lack of active replication in the upper respiratory tract resulting in fewer aerosolized viral particles being spread via nasal discharge. Indeed, H5N1, an avian IAV strain with a strong preference for  $\alpha 2$ , 3 sialic acid moieties, is known to spread poorly among humans (69). Mutations have also been identified in the H1N1 strain causative of the 1918 Spanish flu pandemic in which a preference for  $\alpha 2$ , 6 binding becomes a preference for  $\alpha 2$ , 3, resulting in a loss in transmissibility (70). Similarly, the required cleavage of HA to achieve uncoating is

common to both seasonal and pandemic strains, though the host protease capable of cleavage differs. Specifically, HPAI strains have a sequence of multiple basic amino acids at the cleavage site, which can be recognized by furin-like proteases (71). Unlike trypsin-like proteases which are restricted to the respiratory tract of humans, furin-like proteases are found in the trans-Golgi network and are thus ubiquitous in humans.

The differences in host tropism determined by HA cleavage and host cell binding inform the pathogenesis and virulence of IAV strains. The restriction of seasonal epidemic strains to the upper respiratory tract and requirement for trypsin-like proteases precludes infection of nonpulmonary cells. Additionally, preference for  $\alpha 2$ , 6 sialic acid moieties results in spatial separation from the lower respiratory tract of humans, often resulting in comparatively less damage to the lower lung that can result in pneumonia. HPAI and other more virulent strains of IAV differ in these aspects, with predictable implications for the disease they cause. H5N1 and other HPAI replication in the lower respiratory tract due to a preference for  $\alpha 2$ , 3 sialic acid moieties are associated with more damage to the lower lung and a corresponding increase in pneumonia (72). The ability to uncoat without the requirement for trypsin-like proteases affords HPAI strains the ability to replicate in different cell types, potentially resulting in a devastating systemic infection, neurological symptoms, multiple organ failure, and death (73). Mutations within several IAV proteins have been associated with differential pathogenesis and virulence in some capacity, but the expression of these host factors and resulting tropism are major determinants of the virulence of IAV.

#### miRNA and RISC

As both norovirus and influenza represent major threats to human health, it is important to consider potential mechanisms by which cells may combat infection. Among the most potent mediators of infection is a group of protein-RNA complexes known as RNA-induced silencing complexes (RISC) - a family of "programmable" complexes that is capable of repressing expression of a wide variety of nucleic acids, including viral transcripts. While the compositions of all complexes designated as "RISC" are not identical, each is comprised of at least a member of the Argonaute protein family and a small guide RNA (74). Importantly, an Argonaute protein and a small RNA alone has been shown to be a functional RISC for repression of gene expression, though the Argonaute protein in the complex may have other molecular binding partners, resulting in a larger protein complex unit of RISC (74-79). The general function of eukaryotic RISC is to find and identify RNA that is complementary to the small guide RNA incorporated into the complex and restrict expression of the encoded protein through several different means, including mRNA degradation and translational repression (80). Eukaryotic Argonaute proteins are divided into three distinct groups based on amino acid sequence (81). Only two of these groups, designated Argonaute (AGO) and Piwi, are found in humans and differ based on the manner in which they acquire small guide RNA and to a lesser extent the manner in which they repress gene expression (80, 82). The simplest result of RISC interacting with RNA with which its guide RNA has near-perfect sequence complementarity is mRNA degradation via hydrolysis. Such degradation requires nuclease activity from the Argonaute protein in the complex, which is restricted to the AGO2 protein of the Argonaute subfamily of Argonaute proteins (83). As such, mRNA degradation is a rarer form of gene repression mediated by RISC, especially compared to translational repression and mRNA decay, which is most commonly guided by a specific subfamily of small guide RNAs known as microRNAs

(miRNAs) (80). miRNAs are short, noncoding RNAs about 22 nucleotides in length generated through processing of pri-miRNAs that exhibit cell type- specific expression (84). Repression of translation requires comparatively less sequence complementarity between small guide RNAs and the targets than does mRNA hydrolysis and is estimated to account for between 66-90% of all gene silencing (84-86). Between mRNA hydrolysis, translational repression, and mRNA decay, RISC-induced gene repression is thought to control the expression of approximately one-third of all human genes.

In addition to its endogenous use of controlling expression of host genes, the RISC system can also be exploited to control expression of exogenous nucleic acids. Cytoplasmic dsRNA from a variety of different pathogens, including viruses, can be cleaved by the hostencoded Dicer protein, resulting in RNA fragments of suitable length for incorporation into RISC (87, 88). Harvesting of pathogen-specific RNA in this manner allows host RISC to cleave any remaining cytoplasmic RNA, thus contributing to the restriction of replication of the pathogen. Importantly, while miRNA target sequences are typically located within the UTR of target mRNA, RISC containing guide RNAs are able to inhibit translation of any sequence with which they are complementary. A result of this relative disregard for RNA source is the ability for cells to inhibit translation of recombinant RNA engineered to include sequences of RNA that are complementary to miRNA known to be expressed in those cells, with little to no effect on replication within cells that do not express a complementary miRNA. As miRNA expression can vary based on a number of factors including tissue type, host species, and period of development, significant insight can be gained via insertion of such target sites into otherwise isogenic pathogens. Indeed, this exploitation of cellular control of gene expression at the level of mRNA has been used to deepen understanding about the nature of host-viral interactions for several

important human pathogens, including polio, IAV, and several flaviviruses (89-93). Despite only being characterized within the past 15 years, the use of cellular RNA-silencing machinery to uncover meaningful relationships between host and pathogen has increased considerably and has proven to be an invaluable resource in such studies.

For these reasons, I have employed the use of miRNA-targeting to probe potential requirements for host cell tropism for H7N7 replication in a mouse model. Work into particularly virulent strains of IAV have indicated that the ability to infect and replicate within certain cell types may contribute to the pathogenesis of the virus (94). The loss of replication in monocyte-derived cells and endothelial cells corresponding with decreased inflammatory cytokine production and reduced virulence respectively give insight into the proximal and ultimate results of H5N1 infection (94). In order to understand the factors that may underlie the increased virulence of all HPAI rather than just individual ones, I have restricted the replication of H7N7, a highly virulent HPAI, in both monocyte-derived and endothelial cells. The advantages in this approach lie in the ability to work with a WT host and isogenic strains of the H7N7 virus, differing only in their inclusion of miRNA target sites. The ability to work with the same host and an isogenic virus can allow for a clearer picture of the direct effects of viral replication within a single cell type without the need to consider the side effects of other approaches, including creating knockout mice to use as models.

#### Host factors and RNA viruses

Since the inception of germ theory and the eventual characterization of viruses as agents that have been causative of some of the most well-studied diseases in human history, the study of viral infection and pathogenesis has been evolving. Early studies of infectious bacteria and

eventually viruses illustrate the basic capacity of these pathogens to infect and cause disease, while further work would more explicitly explore the mechanisms by which these diseases progress. As work continues into the exact causes of disease resulting from infection continues, it becomes clear that the nature of the host and its response to infection contribute significantly to the development of resulting disease. Thus, it becomes necessary to consider infectious diseases not only as a result of exposure to a pathogen, but as a result of the interaction between an infectious agent and the response of the host. Through this lens, the role of the host as a mechanism for the progression of disease can be considered. Viruses are able to utilize a variety of different factors in order to replicate and disseminate throughout a host. While some are virally encoded virulence factors, others are exclusively host-encoded. This relationship between pathogen, immune system capable of detecting and controlling the pathogen, and evasion of the immune system by the pathogen indicates a degree of coevolution between the two. As such, the study of expression and function of host factors contributes significantly to the understanding of disease progression. The potential for host factors to play indispensable roles in viral replication is well established, perhaps most easily illustrated examples in the requirement of many viruses to engage a host receptor in order to enter a host cell. For many viruses, the removal of a receptor may result in an otherwise susceptible host becoming completely immune to infection. Conversely, the addition of some entry factors to resistant cells may render them susceptible to infection. Viruses may also exploit a host's circulatory system as a means of establishing infection in several different locations or as a means to translocate to lymph nodes and combat its own detection. The reliance of a virus on its host for a range of different effects is well-characterized and illustrates the need for a complex understanding of the interplay between pathogen and host.

The relationship between host factors, host cell tropism, and viral pathogenesis is complex. Thorough understanding of the relationship is critical for gaining a clear picture of the viral replication cycle and thus understanding potential targets for therapeutics. The studies presented here are an effort to further understand the relationship between host factors and viral pathogenesis for two important human pathogen types: HPAI by way of H7N7 and noroviruses by way of MNV. I will probe the role of different variants of CD300LF in conferring susceptibility to MNV in a range of different cell types to understand potential host cell types. I will demonstrate that CD300LF from two distinct inbred mouse strains function differently in their ability to confer MNV susceptibility. I will show that this difference in conference of susceptibility in macrophage-like cells is due to a four amino acid polymorphism in the CC' loop region of CD300LF and that in contexts where one variant of the protein is nonfunctional, the I/LnJ encoded variant, functionality can be restored upon mutation of this region. Further, I will show that both variants of CD300LF can confer susceptibility to different cell types, suggesting the existence of cell type-specific modifiers of CD300LF function. I will also show that restriction of H7N7 replication in endothelial cells and monocytes has little effect on virulence. This lack of requirement for endothelial cell tropism is at odds with published results for H5N1 pathogenesis, suggesting divergent pathogenesis between the two closely-related HPAI strains.

# Chapter II: CD300LF polymorphisms of inbred mouse strains confer resistance to murine norovirus infection in a cell type-dependent manner

The following chapter was submitted for publication to the Journal of Virology, excluding discussion of *in vivo* MNV infections in I/LnJ mice.

The authors were: Kevin Furlong, Scott B. Biering, Jayoung Choi, Craig B. Wilen, Robert C. Orchard, Christiane E. Wobus, Christopher A. Nelson, Daved H. Fremont, Megan T. Baldridge, Glenn Randall, and Seungmin Hwang.

Scott B. Biering conducted initial growth curve analysis of MNV, EMCV, MHV-68 in BMDMs. Scott B. Biering also transduced I/LnJ BMDMs with C57BL/6J CD300LF and produced the associated Western blot. Jayoung Choi conducted growth curve analysis of CW3, CW1, CR3, and RVSS in BMDMs. All other experiments were conducted by Kevin Furlong.

#### Abstract

Human norovirus is the leading cause of gastroenteritis worldwide, yet basic questions about its life cycle remain unanswered due to an historical lack of robust experimental systems. Recent studies on the closely related murine norovirus (MNV) have identified CD300LF as an indispensable entry factor for MNV. We compared MNV susceptibility of cells from different mouse strains and identified polymorphisms in murine CD300LF, which are critical for its function as an MNV receptor. Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) from

I/LnJ mice were resistant to infection from multiple MNV strains, which readily infect BMDMs from C57BL/6J mice. The resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs was specific to MNV, since the cells supported infection of other viruses comparably to C57BL/6J BMDMs. Transduction of I/LnJ BMDMs with C57BL/6J CD300LF made the cells permissible to MNV infection, suggesting that the cause of resistance lies in the entry step of MNV infection. In fact, we mapped this phenotype to a 4 amino acid difference at the CC' loop of CD300LF; swapping of these amino acids between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ CD300LF proteins made the mutant C57BL/6J CD300LF functionally impaired and the corresponding mutant of I/LnJ CD300LF functional as an MNV entry factor. Surprisingly, expression of the I/LnJ CD300LF in other cell types made the cells infectible by MNV, even though the I/LnJ CD300LF bound MNV virions significantly in immortalized human B cells but not in macrophage-like cells. Collectively, our data suggest the existence of a cell-type specific modifier of MNV entry.

#### Importance

MNV is a prevalent model system for studying human norovirus-the leading cause of gastroenteritis worldwide and thus a sizeable public health burden. Elucidating mechanisms underlying susceptibility of host cells to MNV infection can lead to insights on the roles that specific cell types play during norovirus pathogenesis. Here, we show that different alleles of the proteinaceous receptor for MNV, CD300LF, function in a cell type-dependent manner. In contrast to the C57BL/6J allele that functions as an MNV entry factor in all tested cell types, including human cells, I/LnJ CD300LF does not function as an MNV entry factor in macrophage-like cells

but does allow MNV entry in other cell types. Together, these observations indicate the existence of cell-type specific modifiers of CD300LF-dependent MNV entry.

#### Introduction

Human norovirus (HNV) is a non-enveloped, positive-sense RNA virus of the *Caliciviridae* family, which is the leading cause of acute gastroenteritis worldwide (95-97). Despite its significant public health burden, a complete understanding of the host factors controlling the life cycle of HNV is still lacking. Currently, there are few *in vitro* models that support replication and detection of HNV, making it a difficult pathogen to study directly, though these systems are rapidly improving (18, 95, 98-100). Murine norovirus (MNV) is a genetically similar virus discovered in 2003 as a lethal agent in *Rag2<sup>-/-</sup> Stat1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, which has since been used as a model virus to study HNV biology (16). Unlike HNV, MNV replicates robustly in several macrophage-like cell lines, including BV2 and RAW264.7 (20, 21).

Several studies have identified a wide range of host factors that modulate norovirus attachment and entry, including histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs), bile acids, sialic acid, and divalent cations (20, 23, 101-103). While these attachment factors have been shown to enhance attachment for several different noroviruses, none of them are required for MNV infection. In contrast, recent clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/Cas9 screens uncovered CD300LF, a type I integral membrane protein containing a single immunoglobulin-like domain, as an indispensable host factor for MNV attachment and entry (20, 21, 24). In fact, expression of murine CD300LF alone was sufficient to confer MNV susceptibility to otherwise resistant host cells, including those from other species, like human 293T and HeLa cells (20, 21). Additional receptor molecules and attachment factors have been identified for closely related

members of the *Caliciviridae* family, including Feline Junctional Adhesion Molecule A (fJAM-A) as the receptor for Feline Calicivirus, which has been used historically as a surrogate for HNV (104-111). As understanding the mechanisms by which viruses enter susceptible host cells is integral to understanding the viral life cycle, recent studies on MNV entry have significantly advanced our understanding of norovirus biology (20, 21, 24, 26, 112, 113). Nevertheless, the modulation of norovirus entry factors and their mode of interaction with the viruses are still unclear, and it remains to be determined how these factors underlie norovirus host cell tropism.

The study of how genetically divergent hosts respond to viral infections can reveal the importance of host genetic factors, which may not be evident when using a single strain (114). With many cellular factors influencing norovirus infection, we asked if hosts from different genetic backgrounds might have different susceptibility to MNV. Variation exists in the protein sequences of different mouse strains, and these polymorphisms can help elucidate the functions of certain proteins. Here, we show that bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) from two different mouse strains have dramatically different susceptibilities to MNV infection. We found that these different susceptibilities are primarily due to divergence in the CC'-loop domain of CD300LF, which is essential for its function as an MNV receptor (20). Surprisingly, the CD300LF variant that cannot function as an MNV receptor in macrophage-like cells is able to bind MNV virions and is functional as an MNV receptor in different cell types. These data suggest the existence of cell type-specific modifiers of CD300LF-MNV interactions during viral entry.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Cloning

CD300LF cDNAs of C57BL/6J and I/LnJ mouse strains were synthesized based on public sequence database (http://www.ensembl.org and http://www.informatics.jax.org) and cloned into pCDH-MCS-T2A-copGFP-MSCV (System Biosciences CD523A-1) and pLenti-CMV-Puro-DEST (w118-1, Addgene plasmid #17452). To add HA-epitope at the N-term of CD300LF protein after cleavage of signal peptide, each Cd300lf sequences were modified as follows: C57BL/6J, I/LnJ. ...ACGGCT<u>tacccatacgatgttccagattacgct</u>GAGGAT... (...TAypydvpdyaED...); ...ACGGCTtacccatacgatgttccagattacgctCAGGAT... (...TA<u>vpydvpdva</u>QD...). Lowercase letters indicate the nucleotide and amino acid sequences of inserted HA-tag, respectively. Specific amino acids swapping mutants (B6/CD300LF - 7aa, IL/CD300LF - 7aa, B6/CD300LF - 4aa, and IL/CD300LF - 4aa) were also synthesized and cloned into pLenti-CMV-Puro-DEST (w118-1). The swapping mutants of potential glycosylation sites (B6/CD300LF S174G, B6/CD300LF T131A, IL/CD300LF G174S, and IL/CD300LF A131T) were generated using QuikChange XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit (Agilent) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The mutated follows: CD300LF sequences C57BL/6J 7aa are as mutant, ...CAAGGAGcTtaTtgGAaATCATGT... ...CAAGGAGTTCCTCAGAGATCATGT... > (...QGVPQRSC... >...QGaywkSC...), ...AAAGTTACTGTGAAC... >...AAAGTTgCTGTGAAC... (...KVTVN... > ...KVaVN...), ...CTGACTAGCTACTAC... > ...CTGACTgGCTACTAC... (...LTSYY... > ....LTgYY...), ...GCCATGCCT > ...GCCATGcaT (...AMP >...AMh); I/LnJ C300LF 7aa mutant. ...CGAGGAGCTTATTGGAAATCATGT... > ...CGAGGAGtTccTcaGAgATCATGT... (...RGAYWKSC... > ...RGvpqrSC...), ...AAAGTTGCTGTGAAC... >...AAAGTTaCTGTGAAC... (...KVAVN... > ...KVtVN...), ...CTGACCGGCTACTAC... >

...CTGACCtcCTACTAC... (...LTGYY... > ...LTsYY...), ...GCCATGCAT > ...GCCATGCcT (...AMH > ...AMp). Lowercase letters indicate the nucleotide and amino acid sequences of the mutated, respectively; The sequence of all constructs was checked and confirmed upon cloning via sequencing.

#### Cells

BMDMs were prepared as described previously (115) from mice provided by Dr. Tatyana Golovkina at The University of Chicago. Briefly, bone marrows were isolated from femurs and tibias of 6-8-week-old mice, plated in non-tissue culture treated dishes in 10 mL of BMDM media. Cells were supplemented with fresh media on day 4 and seeded for experiments on day 7. Wildtype (WT) and *Cd300lf<sup>/-</sup>* BV2 cells, mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), and 293T cells were provided by Dr. Herbert "Skip" Virgin (Washington University in St. Louis). HeLa cells were purchased from ATCC. Jurkat (JRT3.5) and BJAB cells were provided by Dr. Erin Adams (The University of Chicago) and Dr. Stephanie Karst (University of Florida), respectively.

#### Viruses

MNV-1.CW3 (herein referred to as CW3) was produced by transfection of  $1 \times 10^6$  293T cells with 2.5 µg of a cDNA clone containing the genome of CW3 (116). Cells were then incubated at 37 °C for 48 hours, frozen at -80 °C, thawed, and passed through a 0.45 µm filter. 500 µl of the resulting filtered virus was used to infect  $1 \times 10^6$  WT BV2 cells. Inoculated cells are incubated until ~90 % cytopathic effect (CPE) was observed. Two 15-cm tissue culture treated plates are then seeded with  $1.5 \times 10^7$  BV2 cells and then inoculated with 50 µl of virus and incubated at 37 °C until ~90 % CPE was observed. These cells were frozen at -80 °C and thawed. Cell lysates were pooled

and centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 20 minutes to remove cell debris. The supernatants were ultracentrifuged at 123918.9 x g for 3 hours in order to concentrate virus. The resulting pellet was resuspended in DMEM supplemented to contain 10 mM HEPES (Mediatech, 25-060-CI), 1X MEM nonessential amino acids (Mediatech, 25-025-CI), 100 U/ml each of penicillin and streptomycin (Mediatech, 30-002-CI) and 10 % fetal bovine serum (Biowest, US1520) and frozen at -80 °C until use. Passage 2 stocks of MNV-1.RVSS (RVSS) and MNV-1.CW1 (CW1), and passage 5 stocks of GV/CR3/2005/USA (CR3) strains of MNV were used for infection as described in Figure 2.2 (117, 118). For each passage, inoculated cells were incubated at 37°C for near complete cell death and frozen at -80°C. Thawed cell lysates were clarified by centrifugation and supernatant was used to inoculate new cells for amplification. Encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) and murine gamma-herpesvirus 68 (MHV-68) were provided by Drs. Marco Colonna and Herbert "Skip" Virgin at Washington University in St. Louis, respectively. EMCV and MHV-68 viral stocks were further passaged and amplified in L929 and MEF cells, respectively.

#### Viral infection

All infections were performed as described previously (119). Briefly,  $1x10^5$  cells were seeded per well in 24-well tissue culture treated plates. 24 hours after seeding, the media was either replaced with virus-containing inoculum (adherent cell lines) or a concentrated sample of virus was added to the media (non-adherent cells) at the indicated MOI. Adherent cells were incubated in virus-containing inoculum for 30 minutes, washed twice with PBS, and replenished with fresh media. Nonadherent cells were inoculated with 50 µl of concentrated viral stock and mixed by gentle pipetting to achieve the indicated MOI. Cells were then washed and pelleted twice to remove

inoculum, and infected cells were harvested at the indicated time points by freezing at -80 °C for median tissue culture infectious dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>) analysis.

#### TCID<sub>50</sub> assay

TCID<sub>50</sub> assays were performed as reported previously (120). Briefly, inoculated cells were frozen at -80 °C to lyse the cells via a cycle of freeze and thaw. Lysates were serially diluted 10fold in cell growth media. The samples were then added to BV2 cells seeded in a 96-well plate. 8 wells of cells were inoculated per dilution and incubated for 5 days. TCID<sub>50</sub> was calculated by determining the dilution required to show cytopathic effect in 4 out of 8 wells, according to a standard protocol (120). Briefly, the following formula was used to calculate Proportionate Distance (-PD): ([%Positive at or above 50%] – 50%) / ([%Positive at or above 50%] – [%Positive below 50%]). The PD is then used to calculate log TCID<sub>50</sub> using the formula: (log dilution at or above 50%) + (-PD) = logTCID<sub>50</sub>. This log value was then used to express the virus titer as TCID<sub>50</sub>/unit volume, e.g., TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml.

#### Western blot

Western blots were performed as described previously (115). In short, total cell lysates were harvested in protein sample buffer (0.1 M Tris [pH 6.8], 4 % SDS, 4 mM EDTA, 286 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 3.2 M glycerol, 0.05 % bromophenol blue) and proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were then transferred onto PVDF membranes, probed with primary antibody diluted in PBS/0.1 % TWEEN 20 (PBST) containing 5 % skim milk for overnight at 4 °C, and then stained with secondary antibody diluted in PBST with 5% skim milk for 1 hour at room temperature (RT). Probed proteins were detected using ECL reagents on a ChemiDoc system with

Image Lab software (Bio-Rad). The following antibodies were used: mouse anti-HA (Frank W. Fitch Monoclonal Antibody Facility, The University of Chicago Clone 12CA5), goat anti-mouse CD300LF (R&D systems, AF2788), mouse anti beta-actin HRP conjugated (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-47778), and goat anti-mouse HRP conjugated (BioLegend, #405306).

#### **Flow cytometry**

To examine the cell surface expression of HA-tagged CD300LF mutants, cells (1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/well in 6-well plates) were gently detached by 5-minute incubation with 600 µl of 0.5 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and gentle scraping. At this point, cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1,000 rpm. Cells were then washed in PBS containing 2% FBS and 1 mM EDTA. Cells were resuspended in wash buffer containing 1% FcR blocker, stained with mouse anti-HA antibody on ice for 30 minutes, washed 5 times, stained with donkey anti-mouse antibody conjugated with Alexa Fluor 647 for 30 minutes at RT, and washed again 5 times. Cells were then immediately analyzed with a BD LSRFortessa cell analyzer. Untransduced, unstained, samples stained only with primary antibody, samples stained only with secondary antibody, and samples incubated in primary isotype-control (Mouse IgG2b k isotype, Biolegend) antibodies were used as controls.

#### Lentiviral transduction

A modified version of lentiviral vector pCDH-MCS-T2A-copGFP-MSCV was used to express CD300LF alleles in C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs, as described previously (115, 119). Lentivirus was generated by transfecting lentiviral vectors with a packaging vector (psPAX2) and a pseudo-typing vector (pCMV-MD2.G) into 293T cells via a standard calcium-phosphate method.

A third-generation lentiviral vector pLenti-CMV-Puro-DEST (w118-1) was used to express HAtagged CD300LF alleles in all immortalized cell lines used. Lentivirus was generated by transfecting lentiviral vectors with HIV gag/pol (pMDLg/pRRE), rev (pRSV-rev), and pseudotyping vector (pCMV-MD2.G). Supernatants were collected 24- and 48-hours posttransfection, filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter (Millipore) and added to the indicated cells. After 48 hours, cells were selected with puromycin (2  $\mu$ g/ml for HeLa cells and 3  $\mu$ g/ml for all non-HeLa cells).

#### **Binding assays**

Binding experiments were performed in accordance with previously published assays (101). Briefly,  $1x10^5$  cells were seeded in 12-well plates. 24 hours later, the cells were inoculated with MNV (CW3) at an MOI of 2 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and incubated at 4 °C for 1 hour with gentle rocking. Cells were then washed three times with ice-cold PBS to remove unbound virus. BJAB cells were pelleted between washes via centrifugation. Cells were then lysed with 1mL TRI-Reagent (Sigma) and RNA was extracted according to the manufacturer's instructions. Genome equivalents were determined via qPCR as described previously (115).

#### **Mouse experiments**

Mice used in this study were of C57BL/6, I/LnJ, or C3H/HeJ background. C57BL/6 mice were provided by the laboratory of Dr. Seungmin Hwang, while I/LnJ mice mice were provided by Dr. Tatyana Golovkina. Control and experimental mice were 6-8-week-old littermates of both genders. On the day of infection, mice were given a per-oral, 15uL dose of 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> units of MNV (CW3). Three days post-inoculation, mice were sacrificed and their proximal colon, mesenteric

lymph nodes, and feces were harvested and flash frozen. Organs were subsequently homogenized and viral titer was measured via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed in Graphpad Prism using two-tailed, unpaired t-tests. All differences not specifically indicated as significant were not significant (p > 0.05). Significant values were indicated as; \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01; \*\*\*, p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*, p < 0.0001.

#### Results

#### I/LnJ BMDMs resist MNV infection.

Inbred mouse strains show differences in innate susceptibility to viral infections (121). While examining the susceptibility of BMDMs from different mouse strains to MNV inoculation, we found that I/LnJ BMDMs were completely resistant to MNV infection. Such resistance is in strong contrast to C57BL/6J BMDMs, which support robust MNV infection (Fig. 2.1A). To investigate the specificity of the resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs to MNV infection, we examined the replication of EMCV as another virus with a positive-sense RNA genome, and MHV-68 as a virus with a DNA genome. In contrast to MNV, the replication of both EMCV and MHV-68 was supported in C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs with similar growth kinetics (Fig. 2.1B, C). We also performed high MOI (5) infection and did not detect any sign of MNV replication in I/LnJ
BMDMs, other than remaining input virus (Fig. 2.1D). These results suggest that the inability of I/LnJ BMDMs to support viral replication is specific to MNV.

Different strains of MNV are known to bind glycoproteins differentially, which can lead to different levels of infection *in vivo* (118). To examine whether I/LnJ BMDMs are resistant to a broad range of MNV strains, we inoculated C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs with several strains of MNV and measured viral replication over 48 hours. Specifically, in addition to the CW3 strain, we chose CW1, RVSS, and CR3. CW1 is a plaque isolate of MNV-1; RVSS is a mutant strain of CW1 with an altered glycoprotein binding profile; CR3 is a field isolate with over 95% sequence identity with the capsid region of CW1 and CW3 (117, 118). Similar to the result with CW3 strain, I/LnJ BMDMs were resistant to infection with all MNV strains tested (Fig. 2A, B). These data demonstrated that I/LnJ BMDMs are resistant to multiple MNV isolates, suggesting a general resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs to MNV infection.

#### I/LnJ BMDMs expressing C57BL/6J CD300LF are susceptible to MNV infection.

Recently, unbiased CRISPR/Cas9 screenings of host factors for MNV infection identified CD300LF as a host factor to mediate MNV entry into cells (20, 21). Given the requirement of CD300LF for MNV entry coupled with the complete resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs to MNV infection, we speculated that I/LnJ BMDMs might fail to express a functional CD300LF receptor required for MNV to infect cells. To this end, we transduced BMDMs from C57BL/6J and I/LnJ mice with lentiviruses expressing either the C57BL/6J allele of CD300LF (B6/CD300LF) that was shown to mediate MNV entry (20) or enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) as a control. Expression of B6/CD300LF in C57BL/6J BMDMs did not significantly affect susceptibility of the cells to MNV infection. In contrast, I/LnJ BMDMs became susceptible to MNV infection upon

expression of B6/CD300LF (Fig. 2.3A, B). These data clearly demonstrated that the resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs to MNV infection was largely, if not completely, at the step of viral entry, suggesting a defect of I/LnJ BMDMs in expressing functional MNV receptor CD300LF.

## A cluster of four consecutive amino acids determines the functionality of CD300LF to support MNV infection.

The different susceptibility to MNV infection between I/LnJ and C57BL/6J BMDMs could reflect a simple difference in the cell surface expression of CD300LF or genetic variations within the protein itself. Unfortunately, none of the currently available antibodies for CD300LF could detect I/LnJ CD300LF, and we have been unable to detect surface expression of endogenous CD300LF in I/LnJ BMDMs. Thus, we examined publicly available sequences of murine CD300LF proteins to determine how the different alleles of CD300LF vary from each other and whether these differences could contribute to the functionality of the proteins. When we compared the sequences of CD300LF proteins from C57BL/6J and I/LnJ mouse strains, we found that the C57BL/6J and I/LnJ variants of CD300LF differ by 14 amino acids, 9 of them in the regions important to function as a receptor for MNV (20). We hypothesized that the sequence difference in CD300LF proteins could underlie the inability of I/LnJ CD300LF to function as an MNV receptor in BMDMs.

To determine the amino acids that could potentially be responsible for this MNV-resistant phenotype of I/LnJ CD300LF, we sought a mouse strain that could serve as a "genetic intermediate" between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ. The CD300LF sequences of the CAST/EiJ and I/LnJ mouse strains differ by 11 amino acids; 7 of these 11 sites are identical between CAST/EiJ and C57BL/6J CD300LF proteins, but the other 4 amino acids are not identical between the two strains

(Fig. 2.4A). To test whether the CD300LF allele of CAST/EiJ mice could serve as a receptor for MNV, we assessed whether BMDMs from the CAST/EiJ mouse are susceptible to MNV infection. In contrast to the I/LnJ strain, BMDMs from the CAST/EiJ strain supported MNV replication (Fig. 2.4B). These data suggest that the seven amino acids, in which CAST/EiJ CD300LF is identical to C57BL/6J but different from I/LnJ CD300LF proteins, might be responsible for the MNV-resistant phenotype of I/LnJ BMDMs.

To expedite the mapping process, we also examined whether the highly tractable macrophage-like BV2 cell line could mimic the phenotypic difference between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs (20). We transduced Cd300lf-/- BV2 (BV2-KO) cells with lentiviruses expressing the HA-tagged CD300LF protein of either C57BL/6J or I/LnJ. While C57BL/6J CD300LF (B6/CD300LF) expression confers MNV infection capacity to BV2-KO cells, expression of I/LnJ CD300LF (IL/CD300LF) is insufficient to permit infection of BV-2KO cells (Fig. 2.4C), similar to the results obtained using BMDMs (Figs. 2.1, 2.2). To determine the role of the CAST/EiJidentified seven amino acids in MNV infection, we expressed chimeric alleles of CD300LF: an otherwise WT C57BL/6J CD300LF with the seven amino acids of I/LnJ CD300LF at the CAST/EiJ-identified loci (B6/CD300LF-7aa) and the converse (IL/CD300LF-7aa). BV2-KO cells expressing the B6/CD300LF-7aa had a significant reduction in their ability to support MNV replication (Fig. 2.4D). In contrast, BV2-KO cells expressing IL/CD300LF-7aa supported MNV replication like the BV2-KO cells with B6/CD300LF. All CD300LF proteins were expressed similarly on the cell surface (Fig. 2.4E). Collectively, these data suggested that the seven amino acids difference of the I/LnJ CD300LF from that of CD57BL/6J is responsible for the majority of the resistance of I/LnJ BMDMs to MNV infection.

We next set out to determine which combination of these seven amino acids is responsible for the resistance phenotype; we chose to prioritize six of the seven as they are in the extracellular domain of CD300LF. According to software predictive of O-glycosylation NetOGlyc (DTU Bioinformatics), two of the seven amino acid variations in B6/CD300LF had high probability to be O-glycosylated. Since differential glycosylation status has been linked to the susceptibility of hosts to norovirus infection (101, 122), we examined these loci first. Expression of CD300LF mutants swapped at these potential glycosylation sites did not switch the phenotype of B6/CD300LF and IL/CD300LF in BV2-KO (Fig. 2.5A); that is, B6/CD300LF mutants with I/LnJ amino acid sequence at the potential glycosylation sites (B6/CD300LF S174G and T131A) still made BV2-KO cells infectible by MNV, and expression of the corresponding I/LnJ CD300LF mutants (IL/CD300LF G174S and A131T) did not, despite similar levels of cell surface expression (Fig. 2.5B). The remaining difference in the extracellular domain of the CD300LF alleles was four consecutive amino acids at the CC'-loop, which flanks a phospholipid binding pocket along with the CDR3 domain and is critical for MNV infection (20, 112). When we swapped these four amino acids between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ CD300LF, the respective mutants, B6/CD300LF-4aa and IL/CD300LF-4aa, recapitulated the phenotype of the seven amino acids-swapped mutants in BV2-KO cells (Fig. 2.5C, phenotypes summarized in Table 1). Again, a similar level of cell surface expression was observed for all constructs (Fig. 2.5D). Taken together, these data demonstrated that the four amino acid polymorphisms at the CC'-loop of I/LnJ CD300LF is primarily responsible for its non-functionality as an MNV receptor in macrophage-like cells (Fig. 2.6).

#### I/LnJ CD300LF can function as an MNV receptor in a cell type-dependent manner.

Expression of C57BL/6J CD300LF in cells non-infectible by MNV makes the cells permissive to MNV infection, demonstrating the entry step as a major barrier for MNV infection (20). We examined whether I/LnJ CD300LF functions similarly in cell lines other than macrophage-like cells. Thus, we stably expressed C57BL/6J or I/LnJ CD300LF via lentiviral transduction in a variety of cell types that do not express murine CD300LF and thus are not susceptible to MNV infection, including mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and human cell lines 293T, HeLa, BJAB and Jurkat. CD300LF was expressed on the cell surface of all transduced cells (Fig. 2.7). Strikingly, while I/LnJ CD300LF did not function as an entry factor for MNV infection in BMDMs and BV2 cells, its expression in MEFs, 293T, HeLa, and BJAB cells made the cells permissive for MNV replication (Fig. 2.7A-D). In human Jurkat T cells, however, only the expression of C57BL/6J CD300LF, but not I/LnJ CD300LF, made the cells susceptible to MNV infection, reminiscent of the macrophage-like phenotype (Fig. 2.7E). Taken together, while C57BL/6J CD300LF expression is necessary and sufficient for MNV infection in all contexts tested, the cell-type dependent functionality of I/LnJ CD300LF suggests the necessity of additional cell-type specific modifiers mediating MNV entry.

Binding of CD300LF to MNV capsid proteins and its role in MNV attachment to host cells have been established (102, 103). To investigate the cell-type dependent functionality of I/LnJ CD300LF, we performed binding assays to determine how different CD300LF expression affects the attachment of MNV to cells, as described previously (118). BV2 and BJAB cells were chosen for this assay, as they produced the highest viral titer in infection experiments yet showed varied ability to support replication when expressing IL/CD300LF (Fig. 2.7). MNV bound to BV2-KO cells expressing B6/CD300LF significantly more than the BV2-KO cells; in contrast, MNV binding to BV2-KO cells expressing IL/CD300LF was comparable to its binding to BV2-KO cells (Fig. 2.8A). These data suggest that B6/CD300LF mediated the binding between MNV and the BV2-KO cells but IL/CD300LF could not, which is consistent with the non-functionality of IL/CD300LF as an MNV receptor in BV2-KO cells (Fig. 2.4). On the contrary, MNV binding to BJAB cells expressing IL/CD300LF was significantly greater than its binding to WT BJABs, although less than its binding to BJAB cells expressing B6/CD300LF (Fig. 2.8B). The result was in line with the MNV replication of the BJAB cells expressing CD300LF proteins (Fig. 2.7D). Collectively, these data suggest that different binding of IL/CD300LF to MNV virions in different cell types might be responsible for the cell-type dependent functionality of I/LnJ CD300LF.

#### I/LnJ mice support MNV replication

As a major advantage of MNV compared to other noroviruses is its ability to replicate in a small animal model, we were interested in the ability of I/LnJ mice to support MNV replication *in vivo*. As BMDMs from I/LnJ mice are resistant to MNV infection, we hypothesized that all macrophages in I/LnJ mice would be resistant to the virus. Expression of I/LnJ CD300LF on non-macrophage, non-T cells renders them susceptible to MNV infection, suggesting that some cells may support replication of the virus *in vivo*. To address this question, we infected C57BL/6J and I/LnJ mice with MNV and measured viral replication in several organs known to support MNV replication. Though levels of replication were low, likely due to low initial dosage, we detected infectious virus in the proximal colon, mesenteric lymph node, and feces of infected animals, suggesting that although macrophages themselves may be resistant, I/LnJ mice are still susceptible to the virus (Fig 2.9).

#### Discussion

Previous studies have demonstrated that expression of murine CD300LF is necessary and sufficient for MNV infection; indeed, deletion of *Cd300lf* in C57BL/6J mice or in BV2 cells, a microglial cell line derived from C57BL/6 mouse, makes them resistant to MNV infection; expression of CD300LF in HeLa cells confers MNV susceptibility to human cells (20). Here we show that BMDMs from the I/LnJ mouse strain are resistant to MNV infection while susceptible to a range of other viruses, and that this resistance is due to polymorphisms in the extracellular domain of CD300LF in the I/LnJ mouse strain. Published amino acid sequences of CD300LF indicate significant variation among different mouse strains, including in regions important for MNV attachment and entry (20, 23). We identified a series of four amino acids at the CC' loop, which swapped the MNV susceptibility phenotype when exchanged between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ CD300LF. Surprisingly, I/LnJ CD300LF could function as an MNV entry factor when expressed in MEFs, 293T, HeLa, and BJAB, although it could not do so when expressed in BV2 CD300If-KO or Jurkat T cell lines. Collectively, our data suggest that cell-type specific factors can modulate utilization of I/LnJ CD300LF in MNV entry.

Public sequence data of various mouse strains indicate that CD300LF proteins broadly segregate into two distinct groups: C57BL/6J-like, such as BALB/cJ and FVB/NJ, and I/LnJ-like, such as C3H/HeJ and CBA/J (aligned in Table 2.2). Comparatively fewer strains express an intermediate CD300LF like CAST/EiJ. Since the origin and lineage history of inbred mouse strains are not well documented (123), it is difficult to speculate on whether this clustering traces back to an evolutionary pressure in nature or a single divergence point. Evasion of MNV infection might be a selective pressure to drive the divergence of CD300LF proteins. However, as MNV infection in immune-competent mice is not lethal (95), it is possible that MNV infection would not have

exerted a selective pressure strong enough to cause this kind of divergence. Furthermore, considering that there are many cell types known to be infected by MNV *in vivo* (e.g. macrophages, dendritic cells, tuft cells, B cells, and T cells) (26) and that I/LnJ CD300LF could function as an MNV receptor in a cell-type specific manner, it is not surprising that even the mouse strains containing an I/LnJ-like *Cd300lf* allele are susceptible to MNV infection *in vivo*. Indeed, the C3H/HeJ mouse strain has an identical CD300LF to the I/LnJ strain and it was previously shown to be infected with MNV (124). Our preliminary data also suggest that I/LnJ mice are infectible with MNV, even though I/LnJ BMDMs are not infectible with MNV (Figs. 1, 2), potentially corresponding with a change in tissue tropism (118, 125). Based on the data shown in Figure 7, we would predict that I/LnJ B cells are susceptible to MNV infection. Therefore, substantive discussion on the natural variation of CD300LF, including its potential causes and consequences, would require a robust understanding of its function outside the context of infection.

Although a significant amount of work has been done tracing the evolutionary lineage of the CD300 family, the exact ligands, specific function, and redundancy of function between members is not well understood (126). It is also unclear whether the 4 amino acid difference in the CC' loop between mouse strains impact the cellular functions of CD300LF. It is useful to note that in each of our experiments in which the "4aa" exchange was made (i.e. 7aa and 4aa experiments), the C57BL/6J background-containing allele showed a severe attenuation in ability to confer infectivity, rather than a complete loss of function. This suggests that while the CC' loop contribute substantially to conference of MNV susceptibility, it is likely that other sections of the CD300LF protein that differ between C57BL/6J and I/LnJ alleles also contribute. Further study on the structure and function of CD300LF and CD300 family members in general is warranted.

The most surprising finding in our study is the functionality of I/LnJ CD300LF as an MNV entry factor in a cell type-dependent manner. We consider the following three possibilities for this cell type-specific functionality. First, there may be differential binding of ligands. Other groups have posited that the binding pocket flanked by the CC' and CDR3 loop may function to augment MNV attachment to CD300LF through the binding of a soluble factor(s), including ceramide (23, 127). Given the proximity of the 4 amino acids to the lipid-binding CC'-loop, the polymorphism could impact the ligand-binding capacity of CD300LF, such that the CD300LF-localized concentration of that ligand or local cell-surface density could differ between cell types and consequently affect functionality for MNV entry. Second, there may be cell-type specific modulators of MNV entry. Positive modifiers of MNV entry would likely be cell-type specific coreceptors. A classic example is HIV entry, in which the virus requires both its receptor, CD4, and a coreceptor in order to successfully enter a host cell (5). These coreceptors, CXCR4 and CCR5, contribute substantially to the host cell tropism of different strains of HIV (128-134). For MNV, the I/LnJ CD300LF might be unable to interact with the macrophage-/T-cell specific cofactor, while maintaining its interaction with alternative coreceptors expressed in other cell types. Lastly, there may be cell type-specific inhibitors of MNV entry, which can interact with I/LnJ CD300LF but not with C57BL/6J CD300LF. A recent study into critical entry factors for MNV into macrophages and dendritic cells identified several proteins, including CD98 and CD36 that influence attachment and could potentially fulfill such a role (135). All these three possibilities are plausible, and future studies will investigate these possibilities and attempt to identify these modulatory factor(s).

### Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Tatyana Golovkina and Kelly O'Grady for providing mice for BMDM analysis, providing key reagents including antibody, and cloning and analyzing *Cd300lf* transcripts from C57BL/6J and I/LnJ mice. K.F. and S.B.B. were supported (in part) by NIH T32 GM007183. S.H. and G.R. are supported by R01AI127518. M.T.B. and D.H.F. were supported by R01AI127552.

#### Chapter III: Endothelial cell tropism is not a major determinant of H7N7 pathogenesis

All experiments were conducted by Kevin Furlong.

#### Abstract

Influenza A viruses infect millions of people worldwide each year. While seasonal epidemics cause the majority of illnesses, pandemics have caused a significant amount of morbidity and mortality. A major putative source of potential pandemic strains is reassortant viruses caused by co-infection of nonhuman hosts, often water fowl and domestic poultry. A subset of these reassortant viruses known as highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) viruses are of particular interest due to their known capacity to infect humans and consumable domestic poultry. Such instances of human infection resulting from HPAI exposure have unusually high rates of mortality and are associated with more severe symptoms compared to seasonal strains. While individual HPAI strains have been studied, little is known about general patterns of pathogenesis that are common to multiple strains. Previous studies have indicated that endothelial tropism is a major contributor to virulence of H5N1, the most well-studied HPAI strain. In the current study, we investigate the importance of endothelial cell tropism in the pathogenesis of another highly virulent HPAI – A/Netherlands/219/2003 (H7N7). Using miRNA-mediated gene silencing to restrict viral replication within endothelial cells and monocyte-derived cells, we observed no relationship between endothelial cell tropism and lethality of H7N7. To our surprise, we also did not observe extravasation of the virus to nonpulmonary organs, despite robust replication in the lungs of infected mice. Our study indicates that the pathogenesis of two highly virulent strains of HPAI are significantly different,

highlighting the need for future work to elucidate mechanisms of virus-mediated death in the search for prophylactic treatment to prevent future HPAI pandemics.

#### Importance

Seasonal epidemics of IAV are responsible for millions of hospitalizations and hundreds of thousands of deaths worldwide. Avian strains of IAV have significantly higher mortality rates and are considered to be among the most potent threats of a worldwide pandemic. Understanding the mechanisms that contribute to the unusually high virulence and mortality rates of all HPAI rather than individual ones will help to develop critical therapeutics that could be applicable to any potential pandemic, reducing mortality and burden on the healthcare industry that could otherwise become overwhelmed by another pandemic.

#### Introduction

Influenza A virus (IAV) is a persistent, changing threat to human health worldwide. As the largest subfamily of the causative agent of the respiratory disease influenza, exposure leading to seasonal epidemics worldwide leads to millions of cases per year, with an estimated 389,000 deaths on average per year between 2002 and 2011 (43). Current seasonal infections are most often caused by H1N1 and H3N2 – the two most prevalent circulating strains (43). Exposure to these common, circulating strains generally results in a self-limiting infection, which is cleared by the majority of immunocompetent patients within 6 to 8 days, with elderly patients, young children, and otherwise immunocompromised most at risk (42). The segmented nature of the IAV genome affords different strains of the virus the capacity to reassort functionally identical segments, which can result in a genetically distinct virus to which the majority of people will be

immunologically naïve. In addition to infecting humans, IAV is known to replicate in a wide variety of different animal hosts, with water fowl serving as the most common reservoir for the virus. Water fowl or other hosts coming into contact with domestic poultry can bring such recombinant strains of IAV into close contact with humans, potentially precipitating an outbreak. Occasionally, exposure to a virus generated by such recombination within animal hosts results in a pandemic, a distinct threat to worldwide health compared to more common seasonal strains. Within the past century, there have been four instances of such a pandemic resulting in widespread morbidity and mortality: 1918 Spanish flu, the Asian flu (1957), the Hong Kong flu (1968), and the Swine flu (2009) (136). Deaths from these diseases and resulting complications ranges from 500,000 individuals to several million (136). Understanding the manners in which these viruses cause such mortality is paramount to future prevention.

Among the putative strains for future pandemics, those classified as HPAI viruses due to their pathogenicity in intravenously-injected young chickens are considered to be most threatening. Bearing the hemagglutinin H5 or H7 almost exclusively, HPAI viruses have been responsible for significant loss in poultry farming and, rarely, have infected humans (57, 137, 138). Asian lineage H5N1 (henceforth, H5N1) is a strain of HPAI that has been detected often in domestic poultry has a wide range of potential species compared to other known IAV strains (57). Humans infected with H5N1 have had severe clinical outcomes accompanied by a mortality rate of approximately 60% (57). Infections often do not present with the expected respiratory distress associated with seasonal influenza and thus can be difficult to detect, making thorough understanding and prevention important.

As H5N1 infections have been the most common HPAI strain detected in humans, significant work has been done to advance understanding of the virus. One such study identified

endothelial cell tropism a major determinant of H5N1 virulence using miRNA-mediated silencing of the virus (94). Through the inclusion of miRNA-target sequences complementary to miRNA exclusive to the endothelium or monocytes in the nucleoprotein (NP) of H5N1, the study shows that endothelial and hematopoietic-cell tropism contribute to hypercytokinemia during H5N1 infection, but only endothelial cell tropism contributes to lethality of the virus. Importantly, the inclusion of miRNA target sites themselves had no effect on total viral titer in the whole lung – the primary site of viral replication (94).

As the ability to develop a functional vaccine in advance of a potential HPAI pandemic is contingent upon knowing which strains will circulate, we were interested in determining potential characteristics of a wide range of HPAI viruses. Specifically, we were interested in whether endothelial cell tropism was a requirement for the virulence seen in other HPAI strains known to be able to be transmitted to humans. A/Netherlands/219/2003 (H7N7) is one such virus that has already had a significant impact on domestic poultry that has caused a minor epidemic and shown a significant capacity for spread among humans (55, 56). Thus, we sought to determine if endothelial cell tropism contributed significantly to H7N7 pathogenesis in order to gain insight into potential host requirements that span viruses containing the two most common hemagglutinin subtypes among HPAI viruses. We employed miRNA-mediated silencing to restrict viral replication within cell types of interest and measured the effects on virulence and mortality on C57BL/6 mice.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Cells

Madin-Darby Canine Kidney (MDCK) cells maintained in Minimal Essential Media (MEM, Lonza) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% Penn/Strep, 1% MEM Nonessential Amino Acids, and 1% L-glutamine. Human lung epithelial cells (A549), 293T cells, mouse lung epithelial cells (LA-4), ferret lung epithelial cells, and mouse endothelial cells were maintained in DMEM (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Penn/Strep. THP-1 cells were maintained in RPMI media (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS. All cell lines were acquired from ATCC.

#### Cloning

Generation of targeted viruses was performed as described previously. Briefly, four copies of the indicated target site were incorporated into a plasmid expressing the mRNA of the NP segment of the A/Netherlands/219/2003 (H7N7) virus (ScrbT: GAGAATCTAAACGACTCAATACA, 126T: CGCATTATTACTCACGGTACGA, 142T: TCCATAAAGTAGGAAACACTACA). Upon confirmation of incorporation of the target sites via sequencing, rescue transfections were performed with DNA plasmids incorporating the remaining seven segments of the H7N7 genome via Lipofectamine 2000 transfection into 293T cells according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transfected 293T cells were then cocultured with MDCK cells and monitored for cytopathic effect. Viruses were subsequently amplified twice via inoculation of fresh MDCK cells with supernatant of infected cultures, plaque purified, and confirmed not to have any other detrimental mutations via sequencing of the viruses.

#### Western Blot

293T cells were co-transfected with DNA plasmids expressing the targeted NP indicated and/or a separate plasmid encoding the miRNA indicated at a ratio of 8:1 via Lipofectamine transfection

according to the manufacturer's instructions. 48 hours post transfection, cells were harvested, lysed with 1% NP-40 lysis buffer and probed for NP expression with NP-specific antibody #4554 (BEI Resources). Ku80 (Ku) levels are included as loading controls.

#### **Growth Curve Analysis**

The indicated cell lines were seeded in tissue-culture treated 12-well plates one day prior to infection. Immediately before infection, cells were washed three times with room temperature PBS to remove FBS-containing media. Cells were infected at the indicated MOI in DMEM supplemented with 0.2% BSA and incubated at 37°C for one hour with gentle rocking. After one hour, cells were washed three times with room temperature PBS to remove virus-containing inoculum and maintained in the indicated media for 72 hours. At each of the indicated time points, ~500uL of supernatant of infected cells was harvested and used for plaque assay to determine viral titer.

#### **Plaque Assay**

Plaque assays were used to determine viral titer from supernatants harvested from tissue culture as well as homogenates from infected animals. Animal tissue was harvested on the indicated day and flash frozen. Whole organs were then homogenized using a tissue homogenizer and homogenization beads according to the manufacturer's instructions. From here, organ homogenates or tissue culture supernatant were serially diluted at a ratio of 1:10 and used to inoculate MDCK cells seeded as a monolayer in 12-well, tissue culture-treated plates, which were then covered with an overlay media (1x MEM with 0.2% BSA, Avicel (FMC Biopolymers), 0.1% NaHCO3 (Sigma), 0.01% DEAE-dextran (MP Biomedicals)) and incubated

at 37C for 48 hours. Cells were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde and stained with a 0.1% crystal violet solution to visualize plaques.

#### **Mouse studies**

Eight-week old C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories and were housed in the Animal Biosafety Level 3 facility at the Howard T. Ricketts research facility (University of Chicago.) On the day of infection, animals were anaesthetized via intraperitoneal injection of ketamine and xylazine, followed by intranasal infection with a dilution of the indicated virus in 25uL PBS. Infected animals were then monitored for symptoms and measured for weight change. Animals displaying neurological symptoms and animals who lost >25% of their initial body weight were euthanized.

#### Results

### H7N7 NP-miRT recombinant strains are designed for restriction of viral replication upon expression of complementary miRNA

In order to ultimately determine whether cell type-specific tropism is a requirement for H7N7 pathogenesis, we first sought to create recombinant strains of H7N7 with restricted replication within cell types of interest. As previously published results have indicated the importance of endothelial cell tropism for H5N1 virulence, we focused on measuring a potentially similar contribution to H7N7 virulence. We employed a method in which a sequence of bases complementary to a cell type-specific miRNA is inserted into the viral genome as previously described (94). MicroRNA-126 (miR-126) is an endothelium-specific miRNA that

has previously been used for IAV replication restriction (93, 94, 139). Previously published work has suggested that another major contributor to IAV pathogenesis is the spike in production of various cytokines and chemokines from monocyte-derived cells that results from infection (140). Therefore, in addition to miR-126 and endothelium, we chose to include monocytes and microRNA-142 (miR-142), a well-characterized miRNA with expression restricted to monocytederived cells (141-143). We chose also to include a randomized sequence of the nucleotides contained within miR-126 (miR-Scrb) as a control for expression of miRNA target sites in recombinant viruses.

A major strength of IAV as a model system is the robust reverse genetics system that allows for relatively simple creation of recombinant viral strains. Due to the segmented nature of the IAV genome, such viruses can be created from plasmids encoding each of the viral genomic segments, allowing for the manipulation of the genome in discreet genetic elements (144). As our goal was to restrict viral replication completely in cells expressing the miRNA of interest, we sought to insert target sequences to these miRNAs into a gene expressing a protein that is indispensable for IAV replication. We chose to insert four consecutive miRNA target sites into the mRNA of the nucleoprotein (NP) of H7N7, as NP serves both a structural role in maintaining virion stability as well as a transcriptional role in viral replication (145, 146). Thus, replication in which NP production is disrupted is heavily impaired.

### NP expression from NP-miRT plasmids is restricted upon co-expression of complementary miRNA

Upon successful insertion of the four consecutive target sites into cDNA plasmids encoding otherwise WT H7N7 NP mRNA, we sought to determine whether expression of NP protein from these plasmids could be restricted in a virus-free system. Understanding whether NP expression is impaired upon co-expression of complementary miRNA would help interpretation of potential restriction in viral replication in downstream applications. To determine this, we co-transfected 293T cells with a plasmid encoding mRNA for a NP with one of the designated miRNA target sites (NP-miRT, collectively) and a plasmid encoding a miRNA of interest. Importantly, 293T cells do not express either of the miRNA sequences of interest. After 48 hours, we harvested whole cell lysates from each co-transfection and probed them for NP expression. As we expected, co-transfections in which NP-miRT target sequences were not complementary to the expressed miRNA or in which no miRNA was expressed showed robust protein expression. However, when an NP-miRT sequence was co-expressed with a complementary miRNA sequence, NP expression was heavily restricted (Figure 3.1). Taken together, these results suggest that NP-miRT expression is limited by the expression of complementary miRNA.

#### H7N7-miRT replication is restricted only in cells expressing complementary miRNA

After confirming that plasmid-based expression of NP-miRT protein is restricted in the presence of complementary miRNA, we sought to create recombinant H7N7 viruses encoding the targeted NP. We co-transfected 293T cells with the NP-miRT-containing plasmids discussed previously alongside 7 other plasmids encoding the mRNA for the remaining 7 segments of the WT H7N7 genome. Importantly, rescue of the virus in this manner results in an otherwise isogenic genetic background allowing us to associate any defects in viral replication with the inserted miRT target sites. Upon confirmation of target site insertion and otherwise isogenic background via sequencing, we sought to determine if miRT sites would affect viral replication

in vitro. Specifically, we were interested in the potential ability for endogenous expression of miRNA complementary to target sites to inhibit viral replication. Thus, in order to determine the range of the effects of miRT insertion on viral replication in relevant systems in addition to potential effect of endogenous expression of relevant miRNA, we analyzed multi-stage replication kinetics via growth curve over a 72-hour period. We measured replication in a variety of cell types including human lung epithelial cells (A549, Figure 3.2A), ferret lung epithelial cells (Figure 3.2B), mouse epithelial cells (LA4, Figure 3.2C), human monocytes (THP-1, Figure 3.2D), mouse endothelial cells (MS1, Figure 3.2E), and human endothelial cells (teloHAEC, Figure 3.2F). Of these, the mouse system remains among the most well-characterized animal model for IAV infection. Despite this, due to an extended esophageal tract and development of human-like symptoms, ferrets are recognized as a closer proxy to humans for IAV infection (147, 148). As miR-126 is an endothelial specific miRNA and miR-142 is a monocyte-specific miRNA, the mouse endothelial cell line endogenously expresses miR-126 and both the mouse and human immune cells express miR-142, while lung epithelial cells are the most commonly infected cell type in vivo (149).

As endothelial cells express miR-126 and monocyte-derived cells express miR-142, we expected viruses expressing the complementary miRNA in NP mRNA to be heavily inhibited in translation, thus resulting in a severe limitation in viral replication. Indeed, replication of H7N7-miR-142 was restricted in human monocyte cell lines (Figure 3.2D), while H7N7-miR-126 replication was restricted in both human and mouse endothelial cells (Figures 3.2E, F). Importantly, while virus replication was restricted in cells expressing the complementary miRNA, viruses with miRT sites replicate to WT-like titers in the absence of such restriction. Taken together, these data suggest that viral replication for H7N7-miRT viruses is restricted in

miRNA-dependent manner. Additionally, insertion of miRNA target sites into H7N7 NP has no detectible effect on replication in the absence of corresponding miRNAs.

# Restriction of H7N7 replication in endothelial and monocyte-derived cells does not affect viral lethality

After confirming restriction of replication in a miRNA-dependent manner *in vitro*, we sought to determine whether restriction of replication in this manner affects viral pathogenesis and lethality *in vivo*. As such *in vivo* experiments with H7N7 are challenging to perform due to their BSL3-level pathogen status, few experiments have been done to determine effective dosing for pathogenesis studies. Initially, we inoculated WT C57BL/6 mice with a range of doses: 250, 50, 10, and 2 plaque-forming units (pfu) each of each virus and observed them for mortality and weight loss once a day each day for 20 days. Continuous weight loss and mortality continued from day 2 to day 12 for animals infected with each of the viruses. Surprisingly, we did not detect a significant increase in survival of mice infected with either H7N7-142T or H7N7-126T compared to the control H7N7-ScrbT, suggesting that any role endothelial cell tropism may play in H7N7 virulence is minor (Figure 3.3).

In addition to monitoring infected mice for weight loss and mortality, we harvested the lungs, kidneys, spleens, and brains of infected mice. Extravasation from the respiratory tract into the blood resulting in detectable viral replication in these organs has been reported following exposure to H5N1, in which lower viral titers in extrapulmonary organs correlated with virulence (94). As pulmonary epithelial cells serve as the primary target for IAV replication and express neither miRNA-126 nor miRNA-142, we expected to detect robust replication of each virus within the lungs. As we expected, high titers of the virus were readily detected in homogenized

lungs at each time point tested with no significant difference between any of the viruses at any time point, corresponding well with our *in vitro* data suggesting insertion of target sites do not affect viral replication in the absence of complementary miRNA (Figure 3.4). Surprisingly, however, we detected very few indications of viral replication in any organ other than the lung. The majority of organs at each time point had no detectible virus and there did not seem to be a pattern among organs that became infected (Figure 3.5). Taken together, these results suggest that viral replication in monocyte-derived cells and endothelial cells contributes primarily to virulence and unlike H5N1, extravasation of the virus from host lungs is not associated with lethality.

#### Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate a method for measuring the contribution to pathogenesis and lethality of the HPAI strain H7N7. We have shown a process by which a recombinant component of the flu genome can be made with inserted target sites complementary to a miRNA of interest. Correspondingly, we have shown that co-expression of a viral protein in this manner with a complementary miRNA can result in restricted protein expression in a virus-free system. Subsequent co-transfection of such a recombinant segment of the genome with cDNA plasmids encoding the remaining segments of the genome results in rescue of a virus with an otherwise isogenic H7N7 background, differing only in the inclusion of complementary miRNA target sites. Measurement of replication kinetics via growth curve show that replication of the virus is largely unaffected by the inclusion of such target sites with the exception of replication of cell lines encoding a complementary miRNA. In such systems, insertion of target sites that are not known to be complementary to any miRNA expressed has no effect on viral replication.

However, viral replication is restricted when a complementary miRNA is expressed. Specifically, we have shown that replication of H7N7 with target sites complementary to miRNA-126 results in restriction of replication in a mouse endothelial cell line while replication of the virus in non-endothelial cell lines is unaffected. Similarly, H7N7 with target sites complementary to miRNA-142 is restricted in monocyte-derived cells but replicates to WT-like levels in other cell lines.

Clear restriction of protein production in a plasmid-based transfection system along with restriction of replication with complementary miRNA expression suggests that viral replication is indeed restricted in a miRNA dependent manner. Thus, as miRNA-126 and miRNA 142 are known to be highly expressed in endothelial cells and monocyte cells respectively, we hypothesize that *in vivo* replication is likewise restricted in a cell-type dependent manner. Previous studies using a similar method of restriction of viral replication based on cell typespecific miRNA expression have demonstrated the importance of viral replication within endothelial cells as a contributing factor for virulence in both mouse and ferret systems. Thus, we hypothesized that H7N7 restricted in replication might have a similar phenotype with respect to endothelial cell tropism and virulence. Surprisingly, mice inoculated with a virus restricted in endothelial cell replication did not show increased survival rates compared to mice infected with unrestricted viruses or viruses restricted in replication in monocyte cells. This suggests that unlike H5N1, endothelial cell tropism is not a major determinant of H7N7 virulence and likely does not substantially contribute to pathogenesis. Additionally, we could not detect evidence of extravasation of the virus from the lungs via plaque assay of organ homogenates. Together, these data suggest that while H7N7 is virulent in small doses, its pathogenesis may differ from H5N1.

A complete understanding of such differences warrants future investigations into the pathogenesis of HPAI including H5N1 and H7N7. Several important observations were made in the study measuring the effect of endothelial cell tropism on H5N1 virulence that would clarify potential differences in pathogenesis between the two viruses. High levels of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines have been associated with HPAI infections and measurement of levels of these cytokines in response to H5N1 infection indicate correlation between them and virulence (94, 140). Specifically, restriction of endothelial cell tropism via insertion of miRNA-126 target sites results in a significant decrease in every measured cytokine compared to mice infected with a control virus in addition to being associated with increased mortality. These results suggest that hypercytokinemia may be associated with H5N1-related mortality, though similar experiments conducted with monocyte-restricted viruses were associated with a similar decrease in local cytokine levels, but not mortality, making a causal relationship between these unlikely. A similar investigation into the cytokine levels in response to H7N7 infection could reveal whether such decreases are still present in response to restricted H7N7 infection. It is possible that infection with H5N1 results in activation of endothelial and monocyte-derived immune cells that results in production of such cytokines that contribute to the loss of integrity of the endothelial barrier, resulting in vascular leakage and ultimately death. Similarly, a decrease in vascular leakage was observed in response to H5N1-126T - a phenotype that was not measured in response to H7N7 infection.

Perhaps the most surprising observation of the H7N7 study was the lack of detectable virus in non-pulmonary tissue without a correlating decrease in mortality. It is important to note that another study into the pathogenesis of H7N7 in animal models observed some extrapulmonary replication of the virus in BALB/C mice, particularly in the brain (150). As their

inoculation dose was 3.5 orders of magnitude greater than their measured  $LD_{50}$ , it is likely that extrapulmonary replication is possible at a high enough dose, but is not necessary for lethality. The contention that extrapulmonary replication of H7N7 is rare is supported by the observation that virtually no extrapulmonary replication was detected in ferret experiments in the same study. It is difficult to identify exactly how these observations inform our understanding of H7N7 pathogenesis, as less is known about H7N7 pathogenesis compared to H5N1 overall. A common interpretation of the severe lung damage, hypercytokinemia, and pneumonia that can be associated with H5N1 infection is that active replication in the lower respiratory tract of an infected individual results in local inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production. Immune cells likely including macrophages are recruited to and enter the lower lungs via the endothelium, resulting in vascular damage and pneumonia. It is important to note that H5N1 infection in humans and other animals results in active replication in non-pulmonary tissue and that death is not always associated with pneumonia (57). Thus, the understanding of the exact mechanisms of H5N1-induced lethality are not understood. Reduction in cytokine production via restriction of H5N1 replication in hematopoietic cells does not reduce virulence (94). This suggests that the production of inflammatory cytokines is not a major contributor to H5N1 pathogenesis. Increased vascular leakage in the lungs likely due to damage resulting from H5N1 infection is associated with increased lethality, however. Together, these data suggest that damage to the host lung following H5N1 infection that is independent of cytokine production contributes to H5N1 virulence, and the same may be true for H7N7. That is, damage to the lung that is independent of replication in non-pulmonary cell types may be the primary cause of death. As H7N7 is lethal at even lower doses than H5N1, we hypothesize that lung damage resulting from infection may be more severe. This may inform interpretation of the lack of detectible virus in non-pulmonary tissue. The lack of requirement of endothelial cell tropism, hematopoietic cell tropism, and extra-pulmonary replication suggests that H7N7 pathogenesis simply does not involve replication anywhere but the host lung epithelium. Given the relationship between extrapulmonary spread and mortality in relation to H5N1, future studies will be necessary to determine the cause of mortality in response to H7N7 infection.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Balaji Manicassamy for his guidance and leadership for the duration of this research. We also thank Dr. Matheswaran Kandasamy for his expertise in BSL3 and ABSL3 procedures and assisting with the initial cloning and growth of the H7N7 virus. We thank the staff, especially the animal resource technicians, of the Howard T. Ricketts facility at the University of Chicago for providing space and general assistance with BSL and ABSL3 experiments.

#### **Chapter IV: Conclusions**

The work presented herein describes two studies that expand our appreciation of the complexities of virus-host interactions in viral tropism and pathogenesis. Although presented from the perspective of two distinct RNA viruses, the reliance on host machinery to achieve replication and pathogenesis is common and strategies are often shared. In both studies we relied on genetics to probe questions of tropism and pathogenesis. For HPAI H7N7, the power to manipulate the genetics of the virus was essential to the experimental design. The ability to rescue recombinant influenza viruses via transfection of cDNA clones encoding miRNA-sensitive mRNA allowed us to probe the importance of endothelial and hematopoietic cells in H7N7 pathology. In the MNV study, host genetic differences was essential to uncover the existence of cell type-specific modifiers of viral entry.

Despite showing a clear lack of function for MNV entry of I/LnJ CD300LF in I/LnJ BMDMs and BV2-KO cells, we observed that transduction of the I/LnJ variant of CD300LF into some cell lines, including immortalized human B cells, resulted in susceptibility to viral infection. These results suggested that functionality of I/LnJ CD300LF was likely affected by other cellular cofactors whose presence or absence in different cell types modulated MNV entry. The classical example of this is cell-type specific coreceptors, such as CCR5 and CXCR4 I HIV entry. MNV has been shown to infect resident immune cells in the gastrointestinal tract, including macrophages, dendritic cells, and other hematopoietic cells C57BL/6J mice (16, 26). Given the ability of MNV to infect I/LnJ CD300LF expressing B cells, but not T cells or macrophages, we would predict that I/LnJ mice are infected by MNV, but with an altered tropism. This hypothesis is supported greatly by our observations that I/LnJ mice are infected by

MNV. In conjunction with our own *in vitro* analysis, we believe that intestinal resident B cells are a likely candidate for supporting MNV infection of I/LnJ mice, and further study will be needed to explore this possibility.

Currently, we believe that there are three likely possibilities underlying this phenotype. In one case, it is possible that there are positive regulators (coreceptors) for MNV entry. One coreceptor would be expressed in macrophages and dendritic cells, while another coreceptor would be expressed in B cells. CD300LF from C57BL/6J is able to bind both coreceptors. But I/LnJ CD300LF can only functionally interact with the B cell coreceptor, but not the macrophage/dendritic cell coreceptor. This would implicate the 4 amino acids near the CC' loop as part of a CD300LF-macrophage/dendritic cell coreceptor interaction domain.

The second possibility underlying the differential infection phenotype is a negative regulator of CD300LF function that functions exclusively on I/LnJ CD300LF in cell types tested in which it does not function, i.e. macrophages and T-cells. The functionality of C57BL/6J CD300LF in all tested contexts suggests that the receptor would lack the ability to bind to the hypothetical negatively regulating cofactor. This negative regulator would have to either not be expressed in cell types in which I/LnJ CD300LF is functional, or be unable to bind the protein in these contexts, potentially due to competition with another binding factor or the assumption of a conformation by CD300LF that precludes such an interaction. Given the data presented, we believe a positive regulator to be the more likely case.

The third option we consider is the possibility that I/LnJ and C57BL/6J CD300LF have different capacities to bind potential ligands that influence their ability to serve as an MNV receptor. In our study of MNV and CD300LF, we identified a four amino acid sequence proximal to the CC' loop that itself may have binding capacity for other ligands, including

ceramide. Such a differential ability to interact with non-MNV ligands could affect the local structure of the receptor and prevent binding to MNV

A useful first step in testing these hypotheses would be approaches to identify cell typespecific binding partners for CD300LF, including both potential molecular cofactors and ligands. For molecular binding partners, we believe a proteinaceous binding partner to be both most likely and most straightforward to determine via mass spectrometric analysis of proteins found associated with membrane-bound CD300LF in B cells versus macrophages. As the commercial antibodies against CD300LF are neither strong enough to readily detect endogenous CD300LF nor specific enough to readily bind CD300LF, but not other structurally similar members of the CD300 family via Western Blot, a pulldown of endogenous protein is unlikely to be simple or sufficient. Therefore, immunoprecipitation of membrane-localized, overexpressed CD300LF with a detectable protein tag is likely to be more effective. Subsequent analysis of proteins either bound directly to or in complex with either C57BL/6J or I/LnJ CD300LF could help form a clearer picture of other factors underlying its function. This would be performed +/- MNV infection, as MNV itself might coordinate the interaction between CD300LF and its coreceptors. As we consider both a positively regulating and negatively regulating cofactor to be legitimate possibilities, a series of analyses of binding partners in different cell types would be necessary to clarify this. In the simplest case in which a single cofactor determines CD300LF function as an MNV receptor in every cell type, we would predict different binding profiles based on allele and cell type. As C57BL/6J is universally functional in cell types tested, it is most useful to consider variations in I/LnJ binding. A single, positively regulating cofactor would most likely be detected bound to I/LnJ CD300LF in the cells in which the receptor functions, being MEF, HeLa, 293T, and BJAB, and would be absent in BMDMs, Jurkat T-cells, and BV2s. In this case,

the identified cofactor would likely be bound to C57BL/6J CD300LF in all cases, suggesting a differential ability to bind the receptor between the two alleles, or in none of them, suggesting that C57BL/6J requires either a different coreceptor or lacks one altogether. In the case of a negatively regulating cofactor, we expect to find it only in cell types in which I/LnJ CD300LF doesn't function, which are macrophage-like cells and Jurkat T-cells and not bound to C57BL/6J CD300LF at all. In each case, identification of a binding partner followed by restricted expression via CRISPR or siRNA in the indicated cell type followed by attempted rescue via plasmid expression would clarify the role of such a factor.

Finally, understanding the nature of the effect of ligand-binding on CD300LF could elucidate its contribution to MNV-CD300LF interactions. As previously stated, the binding pocket flanked by the CC' loop and CDR3 domain has been posited to bind ceramide and potentially other ligands. Initial experiments in which ceramide levels were altered in combination with MNV infection in BV2/IL-CD300LF and BV/B6-CD300LF showed no difference in viral output based on ceramide concentrations (data not shown). Perhaps more importantly, neither CD300LF nor the CD300 family of proteins have been well-studied up to this point and their ligands outside of a viral context are not known. A strong contributing experiment to the work presented would be an assay that measured CD300LF function in each cell type with either allele in the context of infection. However, due to the understudied nature of the protein, it is not known what ligands might be useful in measuring such function. Correspondingly, it is somewhat challenging to determine whether ligand binding contributes significantly to MNV-CD300LF interactions. It is possible that local binding of lipids or another molecule alters local surface structure in a manner that is detectable by very sensitive assays

such as those measuring membrane curvature or cryo-electron microscopy. Such future studies are necessary to understand the other factors underlying CD300LF function.

We described an unexpected observation for H7N7 pathogenesis: endothelial cell replication, which is essential for H5N1 virulence, is dispensable for H7N7 pathogenesis. Unlike H5N1 infection, very little extra-pulmonary H7N7 replication was detected, suggesting that localized lung pathology is solely responsible for H7N7 virulence. These key differences between two HPAI variants illustrate the complex relationships between viruses and their hosts.

In general, we believe the data suggest that both endothelial cell tropism as well as extravasation from the primary site of replication are not related to H7N7 virulence, despite being associated with virulence and lethality in H5N1 infection. This raises the question of the differences in replication and virulence between the two viruses, and investigation of this phenomenon could take several different forms, each of which could contribute significantly to future understanding. Historically, it has been the case that the HA and NA subunits of IAV have been determinants of virulence. Given the ease with which recombinant strains of IAV can be created via rescue transfection, a novel strain of H7N7 in which the HA and NA subunits of the virus are exchanged for the HA and NA subunits of H5N1 could help distinguish a causality for extravasation and requirement for endothelial cell tropism. As this would be a novel reassortant of two virulent BSL3-level pathogens, the knowledge gleaned from such a study would be invaluable provided proper precautions are taken. First, rescuing a novel pathogen created via recombination of two highly virulent strains of IAV would result in a new pathogen with unknown virulence. It is possible that the virulence of the resulting virus would be greater than the sum of its parts and would thus be neither easily comparable to its comprising strains nor suitable for study under the same biosafety level. Perhaps more likely, it is possible that H5

and/or H7 require specific residues or protein structures that may differ slightly between the viruses. Exchange of the HA and NA segments while excluding any other potentially compensatory mutations may result in a pathogen with attenuated replication or virulence. In either case, making direct connections to H5N1 or H7N7 pathogenesis could be challenging. The H7N7 work was undertaken with the hope of understanding factors that unite HPAI in their unusual virulence in humans, addition of more HPAI infection information to the study's repertoire would be useful. For example, study about the potential for extravasation and requirement for endothelial cell tropism in the emerging HPAI pathogen H5N6 could help point toward a role for the H5 HA subunit in H5N1-like pathogenesis (151). Likewise, H7N9, a virus that is technically a low pathogenic avian influenza virus (LPAI) by the conventional definition but has proven to be a serious threat to human health, could prove useful in defining a potential role for the H7 or N7 subunits. As H7N9 is a LPAI, it is also possible that virulence requirements differ greatly between this virus and HPAI. The use of a wider range of viruses in the studies like those presented in this work could contribute to a more complete understanding of the nature of virulence in all avian IAV subtypes.

In addition to using other viruses, finer characterization of the relationship between endothelial cell replication, extrapulmonary replication, and the direct causes of mortality could help construct a clearer image of HPAI pathogenesis in a manner that is conducive to developing treatment strategies. An example previously presented is follow-up of the H7N7 studies with those that more directly connect H5N1 virulence with endothelial cell tropism by way of connection to hypercytokinemia and endothelial barrier membrane integrity. That is, previous studies have shown that WT H5N1 infection results in loss of endothelial barrier integrity and increase in production of inflammatory cytokines in the lung, each of which is correlated with increased mortality in a mouse model. However, a reduction in cytokine production was also seen in H5N1 viruses restricted in their capacity to replicate in monocytes, where mortality was not significantly reduced. Similar analysis of cytokine production and barrier integrity in response to H7N7 infection could help establish a role for either of these in virulence of the virus.

The data surrounding H7N7 pathogenesis in a mouse model strongly suggest that lung pathogenesis itself is a major determinant of H7N7 virulence, with extrapulmonary replication, endothelial cell tropism, and hematopoietic cell tropism playing little to no role. As such, experiments that address the effect of H7N7 replication on host lungs have the potential to contribute the most to our understanding of the virus. The ferret respiratory tract and lungs are considered to be better models for human infection compared to their murine counterparts. Probing the effect of H7N7 replication on ferret lungs is a necessary step in understanding pathogenesis. While such studies have been done, they have historically been at high titers for the purpose of comparing H7N7 isolates and could be improved with more variation in dose. Histological analysis of infected lungs with the targeted viruses to address the role of hematopoietic cells would demonstrate the extent of lung damage in infected individuals and would support these conclusions. Along the same lines, analysis of vascular leakage in response to infection would provide additional data about potential lung damage. Creation of a recombinant virus with a reporter tag could also confirm extrapulmonary and specifically endothelial cell replication using a sorting strategy to identify fluorescent virions in cells with endothelial cell specific markers or antibodies.

#### References

- 1. Boni MF, Galvani AP, Wickelgren AL, Malani A. 2013. Economic epidemiology of avian influenza on smallholder poultry farms. Theor Popul Biol 90:135-44.
- 2. MacMahon KL, Delaney LJ, Kullman G, Gibbins JD, Decker J, Kiefer MJ. 2008. Protecting poultry workers from exposure to avian influenza viruses. Public Health Rep 123:316-22.
- 3. Klatzmann D, Champagne E, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Guetard D, Hercend T, Gluckman JC, Montagnier L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature 312:767-8.
- 4. Bour S, Geleziunas R, Wainberg MA. 1995. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) CD4 receptor and its central role in promotion of HIV-1 infection. Microbiol Rev 59:63-93.
- 5. Maddon PJ, Dalgleish AG, McDougal JS, Clapham PR, Weiss RA, Axel R. 1986. The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. Cell 47:333-48.
- 6. Kapikian AZ, Wyatt RG, Dolin R, Thornhill TS, Kalica AR, Chanock RM. 1972. Visualization by immune electron microscopy of a 27-nm particle associated with acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. J Virol 10:1075-81.
- 7. Koo HL, Ajami N, Atmar RL, DuPont HL. 2010. Noroviruses: The leading cause of gastroenteritis worldwide. Discov Med 10:61-70.
- 8. Dolin R, Blacklow NR, DuPont H, Buscho RF, Wyatt RG, Kasel JA, Hornick R, Chanock RM. 1972. Biological properties of Norwalk agent of acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 140:578-83.
- 9. Thorne LG, Goodfellow IG. 2014. Norovirus gene expression and replication. J Gen Virol 95:278-291.
- 10. Guix S, Asanaka M, Katayama K, Crawford SE, Neill FH, Atmar RL, Estes MK. 2007. Norwalk virus RNA is infectious in mammalian cells. J Virol 81:12238-48.
- 11. Todd KV, Tripp RA. 2019. Human Norovirus: Experimental Models of Infection. Viruses 11.
- 12. Katayama K, Hansman GS, Oka T, Ogawa S, Takeda N. 2006. Investigation of norovirus replication in a human cell line. Arch Virol 151:1291-308.

- 13. Chang KO, Sosnovtsev SV, Belliot G, King AD, Green KY. 2006. Stable expression of a Norwalk virus RNA replicon in a human hepatoma cell line. Virology 353:463-73.
- 14. Katayama K, Murakami K, Sharp TM, Guix S, Oka T, Takai-Todaka R, Nakanishi A, Crawford SE, Atmar RL, Estes MK. 2014. Plasmid-based human norovirus reverse genetics system produces reporter-tagged progeny virus containing infectious genomic RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:E4043-52.
- 15. Taube S, Kolawole AO, Hohne M, Wilkinson JE, Handley SA, Perry JW, Thackray LB, Akkina R, Wobus CE. 2013. A mouse model for human norovirus. mBio 4.
- 16. Karst SM, Wobus CE, Lay M, Davidson J, Virgin HWt. 2003. STAT1-dependent innate immunity to a Norwalk-like virus. Science 299:1575-8.
- 17. Wobus CE, Thackray LB, Virgin HWt. 2006. Murine norovirus: a model system to study norovirus biology and pathogenesis. J Virol 80:5104-12.
- 18. Wobus CE, Karst SM, Thackray LB, Chang KO, Sosnovtsev SV, Belliot G, Krug A, Mackenzie JM, Green KY, Virgin HW. 2004. Replication of Norovirus in cell culture reveals a tropism for dendritic cells and macrophages. PLoS Biol 2:e432.
- 19. Cox C, Cao S, Lu Y. 2009. Enhanced detection and study of murine norovirus-1 using a more efficient microglial cell line. Virol J 6:196.
- 20. Orchard RC, Wilen CB, Doench JG, Baldridge MT, McCune BT, Lee YC, Lee S, Pruett-Miller SM, Nelson CA, Fremont DH, Virgin HW. 2016. Discovery of a proteinaceous cellular receptor for a norovirus. Science 353:933-6.
- 21. Haga K, Fujimoto A, Takai-Todaka R, Miki M, Doan YH, Murakami K, Yokoyama M, Murata K, Nakanishi A, Katayama K. 2016. Functional receptor molecules CD300lf and CD300ld within the CD300 family enable murine noroviruses to infect cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:E6248-E6255.
- 22. Can I, Tahara-Hanaoka S, Hitomi K, Nakano T, Nakahashi-Oda C, Kurita N, Honda S, Shibuya K, Shibuya A. 2008. Caspase-independent cell death by CD300LF (MAIR-V), an inhibitory immunoglobulin-like receptor on myeloid cells. J Immunol 180:207-13.
- 23. Nelson CA, Wilen CB, Dai YN, Orchard RC, Kim AS, Stegeman RA, Hsieh LL, Smith TJ, Virgin HW, Fremont DH. 2018. Structural basis for murine norovirus engagement of bile acids and the CD300lf receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:E9201-E9210.
- 24. Graziano VR, Walker FC, Kennedy EA, Wei J, Ettayebi K, Strine MS, Filler RB, Hassan E, Hsieh LL, Kim AS, Kolawole AO, Wobus CE, Lindesmith LC, Baric RS, Estes MK, Orchard RC, Baldridge MT, Wilen CB. 2020. CD300lf is the primary physiologic receptor of murine norovirus but not human norovirus. PLoS Pathog 16:e1008242.

- 25. McFadden N, Bailey D, Carrara G, Benson A, Chaudhry Y, Shortland A, Heeney J, Yarovinsky F, Simmonds P, Macdonald A, Goodfellow I. 2011. Norovirus regulation of the innate immune response and apoptosis occurs via the product of the alternative open reading frame 4. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002413.
- 26. Wilen CB, Lee S, Hsieh LL, Orchard RC, Desai C, Hykes BL, Jr., McAllaster MR, Balce DR, Feehley T, Brestoff JR, Hickey CA, Yokoyama CC, Wang YT, MacDuff DA, Kreamalmayer D, Howitt MR, Neil JA, Cadwell K, Allen PM, Handley SA, van Lookeren Campagne M, Baldridge MT, Virgin HW. 2018. Tropism for tuft cells determines immune promotion of norovirus pathogenesis. Science 360:204-208.
- 27. Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. 2000. Receptor binding and membrane fusion in virus entry: the influenza hemagglutinin. Annu Rev Biochem 69:531-69.
- 28. de Vries E, Tscherne DM, Wienholts MJ, Cobos-Jimenez V, Scholte F, Garcia-Sastre A, Rottier PJ, de Haan CA. 2011. Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway. PLoS Pathog 7:e1001329.
- 29. Rossman JS, Leser GP, Lamb RA. 2012. Filamentous influenza virus enters cells via macropinocytosis. J Virol 86:10950-60.
- 30. Rust MJ, Lakadamyali M, Zhang F, Zhuang X. 2004. Assembly of endocytic machinery around individual influenza viruses during viral entry. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11:567-73.
- 31. White J, Helenius A, Gething MJ. 1982. Haemagglutinin of influenza virus expressed from a cloned gene promotes membrane fusion. Nature 300:658-9.
- 32. Bullough PA, Hughson FM, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. 1994. Structure of influenza haemagglutinin at the pH of membrane fusion. Nature 371:37-43.
- 33. Yoshimura A, Ohnishi S. 1984. Uncoating of influenza virus in endosomes. J Virol 51:497-504.
- 34. Eisfeld AJ, Neumann G, Kawaoka Y. 2015. At the centre: influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins. Nat Rev Microbiol 13:28-41.
- 35. Plotch SJ, Bouloy M, Ulmanen I, Krug RM. 1981. A unique cap(m7GpppXm)-dependent influenza virion endonuclease cleaves capped RNAs to generate the primers that initiate viral RNA transcription. Cell 23:847-58.
- 36. Reich S, Guilligay D, Pflug A, Malet H, Berger I, Crepin T, Hart D, Lunardi T, Nanao M, Ruigrok RW, Cusack S. 2014. Structural insight into cap-snatching and RNA synthesis by influenza polymerase. Nature 516:361-6.
- 37. Gottschalk A. 1957. Neuraminidase: the specific enzyme of influenza virus and Vibrio cholerae. Biochim Biophys Acta 23:645-6.
- 38. Burnet FM, Mc CJ, Anderson SG. 1947. Mucin as substrate of enzyme action by viruses of the mumps influenza group. Nature 160:404.
- 39. Dou D, Revol R, Ostbye H, Wang H, Daniels R. 2018. Influenza A Virus Cell Entry, Replication, Virion Assembly and Movement. Front Immunol 9:1581.
- 40. Hause BM, Ducatez M, Collin EA, Ran Z, Liu R, Sheng Z, Armien A, Kaplan B, Chakravarty S, Hoppe AD, Webby RJ, Simonson RR, Li F. 2013. Isolation of a novel swine influenza virus from Oklahoma in 2011 which is distantly related to human influenza C viruses. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003176.
- 41. Su S, Fu X, Li G, Kerlin F, Veit M. 2017. Novel Influenza D virus: Epidemiology, pathology, evolution and biological characteristics. Virulence 8:1580-1591.
- 42. Taubenberger JK, Morens DM. 2008. The pathology of influenza virus infections. Annu Rev Pathol 3:499-522.
- 43. Paget J, Spreeuwenberg P, Charu V, Taylor RJ, Iuliano AD, Bresee J, Simonsen L, Viboud C, Global Seasonal Influenza-associated Mortality Collaborator N, Teams\* GLC. 2019. Global mortality associated with seasonal influenza epidemics: New burden estimates and predictors from the GLaMOR Project. J Glob Health 9:020421.
- 44. Boni MF. 2008. Vaccination and antigenic drift in influenza. Vaccine 26 Suppl 3:C8-14.
- 45. Webster RG, Govorkova EA. 2014. Continuing challenges in influenza. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1323:115-39.
- 46. Fukuyama S, Kawaoka Y. 2011. The pathogenesis of influenza virus infections: the contributions of virus and host factors. Curr Opin Immunol 23:481-6.
- 47. Pinsent A, Fraser C, Ferguson NM, Riley S. 2016. A systematic review of reported reassortant viral lineages of influenza A. BMC Infect Dis 16:3.
- 48. Mostafa A, Abdelwhab EM, Mettenleiter TC, Pleschka S. 2018. Zoonotic Potential of Influenza A Viruses: A Comprehensive Overview. Viruses 10.
- 49. Tong S, Zhu X, Li Y, Shi M, Zhang J, Bourgeois M, Yang H, Chen X, Recuenco S, Gomez J, Chen LM, Johnson A, Tao Y, Dreyfus C, Yu W, McBride R, Carney PJ, Gilbert AT, Chang J, Guo Z, Davis CT, Paulson JC, Stevens J, Rupprecht CE, Holmes EC, Wilson IA, Donis RO. 2013. New world bats harbor diverse influenza A viruses. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003657.
- 50. Webster RG, Bean WJ, Gorman OT, Chambers TM, Kawaoka Y. 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiol Rev 56:152-79.

- 51. Tscherne DM, Garcia-Sastre A. 2011. Virulence determinants of pandemic influenza viruses. J Clin Invest 121:6-13.
- 52. Horimoto T, Kawaoka Y. 2001. Pandemic threat posed by avian influenza A viruses. Clin Microbiol Rev 14:129-49.
- 53. Li Q, Zhou L, Zhou M, Chen Z, Li F, Wu H, Xiang N, Chen E, Tang F, Wang D, Meng L, Hong Z, Tu W, Cao Y, Li L, Ding F, Liu B, Wang M, Xie R, Gao R, Li X, Bai T, Zou S, He J, Hu J, Xu Y, Chai C, Wang S, Gao Y, Jin L, Zhang Y, Luo H, Yu H, He J, Li Q, Wang X, Gao L, Pang X, Liu G, Yan Y, Yuan H, Shu Y, Yang W, Wang Y, Wu F, Uyeki TM, Feng Z. 2014. Epidemiology of human infections with avian influenza A(H7N9) virus in China. N Engl J Med 370:520-32.
- 54. Richard M, Schrauwen EJ, de Graaf M, Bestebroer TM, Spronken MI, van Boheemen S, de Meulder D, Lexmond P, Linster M, Herfst S, Smith DJ, van den Brand JM, Burke DF, Kuiken T, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD, Fouchier RA. 2013. Limited airborne transmission of H7N9 influenza A virus between ferrets. Nature 501:560-3.
- 55. Fouchier RA, Schneeberger PM, Rozendaal FW, Broekman JM, Kemink SA, Munster V, Kuiken T, Rimmelzwaan GF, Schutten M, Van Doornum GJ, Koch G, Bosman A, Koopmans M, Osterhaus AD. 2004. Avian influenza A virus (H7N7) associated with human conjunctivitis and a fatal case of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:1356-61.
- 56. Belser JA, Creager HM, Zeng H, Maines TR, Tumpey TM. 2017. Pathogenesis, Transmissibility, and Tropism of a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A(H7N7) Virus Associated With Human Conjunctivitis in Italy, 2013. J Infect Dis 216:S508-S511.
- 57. Peiris JS, de Jong MD, Guan Y. 2007. Avian influenza virus (H5N1): a threat to human health. Clin Microbiol Rev 20:243-67.
- 58. Suzuki Y, Ito T, Suzuki T, Holland RE, Jr., Chambers TM, Kiso M, Ishida H, Kawaoka Y. 2000. Sialic acid species as a determinant of the host range of influenza A viruses. J Virol 74:11825-31.
- 59. Kumlin U, Olofsson S, Dimock K, Arnberg N. 2008. Sialic acid tissue distribution and influenza virus tropism. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 2:147-54.
- 60. Suguitan AL, Jr., Matsuoka Y, Lau YF, Santos CP, Vogel L, Cheng LI, Orandle M, Subbarao K. 2012. The multibasic cleavage site of the hemagglutinin of highly pathogenic A/Vietnam/1203/2004 (H5N1) avian influenza virus acts as a virulence factor in a host-specific manner in mammals. J Virol 86:2706-14.
- 61. Rott R, Klenk HD, Nagai Y, Tashiro M. 1995. Influenza viruses, cell enzymes, and pathogenicity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:S16-9.

- 62. Hatta M, Hatta Y, Kim JH, Watanabe S, Shinya K, Nguyen T, Lien PS, Le QM, Kawaoka Y. 2007. Growth of H5N1 influenza A viruses in the upper respiratory tracts of mice. PLoS Pathog 3:1374-9.
- 63. Li Z, Chen H, Jiao P, Deng G, Tian G, Li Y, Hoffmann E, Webster RG, Matsuoka Y, Yu K. 2005. Molecular basis of replication of duck H5N1 influenza viruses in a mammalian mouse model. J Virol 79:12058-64.
- 64. Munster VJ, de Wit E, van Riel D, Beyer WE, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD, Kuiken T, Fouchier RA. 2007. The molecular basis of the pathogenicity of the Dutch highly pathogenic human influenza A H7N7 viruses. J Infect Dis 196:258-65.
- 65. Bussey KA, Bousse TL, Desmet EA, Kim B, Takimoto T. 2010. PB2 residue 271 plays a key role in enhanced polymerase activity of influenza A viruses in mammalian host cells. J Virol 84:4395-406.
- 66. Song MS, Pascua PN, Lee JH, Baek YH, Lee OJ, Kim CJ, Kim H, Webby RJ, Webster RG, Choi YK. 2009. The polymerase acidic protein gene of influenza a virus contributes to pathogenicity in a mouse model. J Virol 83:12325-35.
- 67. Min JY, Li S, Sen GC, Krug RM. 2007. A site on the influenza A virus NS1 protein mediates both inhibition of PKR activation and temporal regulation of viral RNA synthesis. Virology 363:236-43.
- 68. Pu J, Wang J, Zhang Y, Fu G, Bi Y, Sun Y, Liu J. 2010. Synergism of co-mutation of two amino acid residues in NS1 protein increases the pathogenicity of influenza virus in mice. Virus Res 151:200-4.
- 69. Shinya K, Ebina M, Yamada S, Ono M, Kasai N, Kawaoka Y. 2006. Avian flu: influenza virus receptors in the human airway. Nature 440:435-6.
- 70. Tumpey TM, Maines TR, Van Hoeven N, Glaser L, Solorzano A, Pappas C, Cox NJ, Swayne DE, Palese P, Katz JM, Garcia-Sastre A. 2007. A two-amino acid change in the hemagglutinin of the 1918 influenza virus abolishes transmission. Science 315:655-9.
- 71. Horimoto T, Nakayama K, Smeekens SP, Kawaoka Y. 1994. Proprotein-processing endoproteases PC6 and furin both activate hemagglutinin of virulent avian influenza viruses. J Virol 68:6074-8.
- 72. Gambotto A, Barratt-Boyes SM, de Jong MD, Neumann G, Kawaoka Y. 2008. Human infection with highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus. Lancet 371:1464-75.
- 73. Uiprasertkul M, Puthavathana P, Sangsiriwut K, Pooruk P, Srisook K, Peiris M, Nicholls JM, Chokephaibulkit K, Vanprapar N, Auewarakul P. 2005. Influenza A H5N1 replication sites in humans. Emerg Infect Dis 11:1036-41.

- 74. Rivas FV, Tolia NH, Song JJ, Aragon JP, Liu J, Hannon GJ, Joshua-Tor L. 2005. Purified Argonaute2 and an siRNA form recombinant human RISC. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12:340-9.
- 75. Pham JW, Pellino JL, Lee YS, Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ. 2004. A Dicer-2-dependent 80s complex cleaves targeted mRNAs during RNAi in Drosophila. Cell 117:83-94.
- 76. Gregory RI, Chendrimada TP, Cooch N, Shiekhattar R. 2005. Human RISC couples microRNA biogenesis and posttranscriptional gene silencing. Cell 123:631-40.
- Hock J, Weinmann L, Ender C, Rudel S, Kremmer E, Raabe M, Urlaub H, Meister G. 2007. Proteomic and functional analysis of Argonaute-containing mRNA-protein complexes in human cells. EMBO Rep 8:1052-60.
- 78. Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ. 2000. An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in Drosophila cells. Nature 404:293-6.
- 79. Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Urlaub H, Luhrmann R, Tuschl T. 2002. Single-stranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. Cell 110:563-74.
- 80. Pratt AJ, MacRae IJ. 2009. The RNA-induced silencing complex: a versatile genesilencing machine. J Biol Chem 284:17897-901.
- 81. Tolia NH, Joshua-Tor L. 2007. Slicer and the argonautes. Nat Chem Biol 3:36-43.
- 82. Aravin AA, Hannon GJ, Brennecke J. 2007. The Piwi-piRNA pathway provides an adaptive defense in the transposon arms race. Science 318:761-4.
- 83. Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, Hammond SM, Joshua-Tor L, Hannon GJ. 2004. Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305:1437-41.
- 84. Gebert LFR, MacRae IJ. 2019. Regulation of microRNA function in animals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20:21-37.
- 85. Guo H, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, Bartel DP. 2010. Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature 466:835-40.
- 86. Eichhorn SW, Guo H, McGeary SE, Rodriguez-Mias RA, Shin C, Baek D, Hsu SH, Ghoshal K, Villen J, Bartel DP. 2014. mRNA destabilization is the dominant effect of mammalian microRNAs by the time substantial repression ensues. Mol Cell 56:104-15.
- 87. Ding SW, Voinnet O. 2007. Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. Cell 130:413-26.

- Obbard DJ, Gordon KH, Buck AH, Jiggins FM. 2009. The evolution of RNAi as a defence against viruses and transposable elements. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 364:99-115.
- 89. Levanova A, Poranen MM. 2018. RNA Interference as a Prospective Tool for the Control of Human Viral Infections. Front Microbiol 9:2151.
- 90. tenOever BR. 2013. RNA viruses and the host microRNA machinery. Nat Rev Microbiol 11:169-80.
- 91. Barnes D, Kunitomi M, Vignuzzi M, Saksela K, Andino R. 2008. Harnessing endogenous miRNAs to control virus tissue tropism as a strategy for developing attenuated virus vaccines. Cell Host Microbe 4:239-48.
- 92. Heiss BL, Maximova OA, Pletnev AG. 2011. Insertion of microRNA targets into the flavivirus genome alters its highly neurovirulent phenotype. J Virol 85:1464-72.
- 93. Perez JT, Pham AM, Lorini MH, Chua MA, Steel J, tenOever BR. 2009. MicroRNAmediated species-specific attenuation of influenza A virus. Nat Biotechnol 27:572-6.
- 94. Tundup S, Kandasamy M, Perez JT, Mena N, Steel J, Nagy T, Albrecht RA, Manicassamy B. 2017. Endothelial cell tropism is a determinant of H5N1 pathogenesis in mammalian species. PLoS Pathog 13:e1006270.
- 95. Karst SM, Wobus CE, Goodfellow IG, Green KY, Virgin HW. 2014. Advances in norovirus biology. Cell Host Microbe 15:668-80.
- 96. Robilotti E, Deresinski S, Pinsky BA. 2015. Norovirus. Clin Microbiol Rev 28:134-64.
- 97. Glass RI, Parashar UD, Estes MK. 2009. Norovirus gastroenteritis. N Engl J Med 361:1776-85.
- 98. Cortes-Penfield NW, Ramani S, Estes MK, Atmar RL. 2017. Prospects and Challenges in the Development of a Norovirus Vaccine. Clin Ther 39:1537-1549.
- 99. Ettayebi K, Crawford SE, Murakami K, Broughman JR, Karandikar U, Tenge VR, Neill FH, Blutt SE, Zeng XL, Qu L, Kou B, Opekun AR, Burrin D, Graham DY, Ramani S, Atmar RL, Estes MK. 2016. Replication of human noroviruses in stem cell-derived human enteroids. Science 353:1387-1393.
- 100. Jones MK, Watanabe M, Zhu S, Graves CL, Keyes LR, Grau KR, Gonzalez-Hernandez MB, Iovine NM, Wobus CE, Vinje J, Tibbetts SA, Wallet SM, Karst SM. 2014. Enteric bacteria promote human and mouse norovirus infection of B cells. Science 346:755-9.
- 101. Taube S, Perry JW, Yetming K, Patel SP, Auble H, Shu L, Nawar HF, Lee CH, Connell TD, Shayman JA, Wobus CE. 2009. Ganglioside-linked terminal sialic acid moieties on

murine macrophages function as attachment receptors for murine noroviruses. J Virol 83:4092-101.

- 102. Kilic T, Koromyslova A, Hansman GS. 2019. Structural Basis for Human Norovirus Capsid Binding to Bile Acids. J Virol 93.
- 103. Sherman MB, Williams AN, Smith HQ, Nelson C, Wilen CB, Fremont DH, Virgin HW, Smith TJ. 2019. Bile Salts Alter the Mouse Norovirus Capsid Conformation: Possible Implications for Cell Attachment and Immune Evasion. J Virol 93.
- 104. Makino A, Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Kato K, Tohya Y, Akashi H. 2006. Junctional adhesion molecule 1 is a functional receptor for feline calicivirus. J Virol 80:4482-90.
- 105. Alfajaro MM, Cho EH, Kim DS, Kim JY, Park JG, Soliman M, Baek YB, Park CH, Kang MI, Park SI, Cho KO. 2019. Early Porcine Sapovirus Infection Disrupts Tight Junctions and Uses Occludin as a Coreceptor. J Virol 93.
- 106. Desselberger U. 2019. Caliciviridae Other Than Noroviruses. Viruses 11.
- 107. Kim DS, Hosmillo M, Alfajaro MM, Kim JY, Park JG, Son KY, Ryu EH, Sorgeloos F, Kwon HJ, Park SJ, Lee WS, Cho D, Kwon J, Choi JS, Kang MI, Goodfellow I, Cho KO. 2014. Both alpha2,3- and alpha2,6-linked sialic acids on O-linked glycoproteins act as functional receptors for porcine Sapovirus. PLoS Pathog 10:e1004172.
- 108. Lopes AM, Breiman A, Lora M, Le Moullac-Vaidye B, Galanina O, Nystrom K, Marchandeau S, Le Gall-Recule G, Strive T, Neimanis A, Bovin NV, Ruvoen-Clouet N, Esteves PJ, Abrantes J, Le Pendu J. 2018. Host-Specific Glycans Are Correlated with Susceptibility to Infection by Lagoviruses, but Not with Their Virulence. J Virol 92.
- 109. Soliman M, Kim DS, Kim C, Seo JY, Kim JY, Park JG, Alfajaro MM, Baek YB, Cho EH, Park SI, Kang MI, Chang KO, Goodfellow I, Cho KO. 2018. Porcine sapovirus Cowden strain enters LLC-PK cells via clathrin- and cholesterol-dependent endocytosis with the requirement of dynamin II. Vet Res 49:92.
- 110. Song Y, Wang F, Fan Z, Hu B, Liu X, Wei H, Xue J, Xu W, Qiu R. 2016. Identification of novel rabbit hemorrhagic disease virus B-cell epitopes and their interaction with host histo-blood group antigens. J Gen Virol 97:356-65.
- 111. Sosnovtsev SV, Sandoval-Jaime C, Parra GI, Tin CM, Jones RW, Soden J, Barnes D, Freeth J, Smith AW, Green KY. 2017. Identification of Human Junctional Adhesion Molecule 1 as a Functional Receptor for the Hom-1 Calicivirus on Human Cells. MBio 8.
- 112. Graziano VR, Wei J, Wilen CB. 2019. Norovirus Attachment and Entry. Viruses 11.
- 113. Lee S, Wilen CB, Orvedahl A, McCune BT, Kim KW, Orchard RC, Peterson ST, Nice TJ, Baldridge MT, Virgin HW. 2017. Norovirus Cell Tropism Is Determined by

Combinatorial Action of a Viral Non-structural Protein and Host Cytokine. Cell Host Microbe 22:449-459 e4.

- 114. Srivastava B, Blazejewska P, Hessmann M, Bruder D, Geffers R, Mauel S, Gruber AD, Schughart K. 2009. Host genetic background strongly influences the response to influenza a virus infections. PLoS One 4:e4857.
- 115. Biering SB, Choi J, Halstrom RA, Brown HM, Beatty WL, Lee S, McCune BT, Dominici E, Williams LE, Orchard RC, Wilen CB, Yamamoto M, Coers J, Taylor GA, Hwang S. 2017. Viral Replication Complexes Are Targeted by LC3-Guided Interferon-Inducible GTPases. Cell Host Microbe 22:74-85 e7.
- 116. Strong DW, Thackray LB, Smith TJ, Virgin HW. 2012. Protruding domain of capsid protein is necessary and sufficient to determine murine norovirus replication and pathogenesis in vivo. J Virol 86:2950-8.
- 117. Thackray LB, Wobus CE, Chachu KA, Liu B, Alegre ER, Henderson KS, Kelley ST, Virgin HWt. 2007. Murine noroviruses comprising a single genogroup exhibit biological diversity despite limited sequence divergence. J Virol 81:10460-73.
- 118. Taube S, Perry JW, McGreevy E, Yetming K, Perkins C, Henderson K, Wobus CE. 2012. Murine noroviruses bind glycolipid and glycoprotein attachment receptors in a straindependent manner. J Virol 86:5584-93.
- 119. Hwang S, Maloney NS, Bruinsma MW, Goel G, Duan E, Zhang L, Shrestha B, Diamond MS, Dani A, Sosnovtsev SV, Green KY, Lopez-Otin C, Xavier RJ, Thackray LB, Virgin HW. 2012. Nondegradative role of Atg5-Atg12/ Atg16L1 autophagy protein complex in antiviral activity of interferon gamma. Cell Host Microbe 11:397-409.
- 120. Hwang S, Alhatlani B, Arias A, Caddy SL, Christodoulou C, Cunha JB, Emmott E, Gonzalez-Hernandez M, Kolawole A, Lu J, Rippinger C, Sorgeloos F, Thorne L, Vashist S, Goodfellow I, Wobus CE. 2014. Murine norovirus: propagation, quantification, and genetic manipulation. Curr Protoc Microbiol 33:15K 2 1-61.
- 121. Vidal SM, Malo D, Marquis JF, Gros P. 2008. Forward genetic dissection of immunity to infection in the mouse. Annu Rev Immunol 26:81-132.
- 122. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, Ruvoen N, Jiang X, Lindblad L, Stewart P, LePendu J, Baric R. 2003. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. Nat Med 9:548-53.
- 123. Beck JA, Lloyd S, Hafezparast M, Lennon-Pierce M, Eppig JT, Festing MF, Fisher EM. 2000. Genealogies of mouse inbred strains. Nat Genet 24:23-5.

- 124. Hsu CC, Piotrowski SL, Meeker SM, Smith KD, Maggio-Price L, Treuting PM. 2016. Histologic Lesions Induced by Murine Norovirus Infection in Laboratory Mice. Vet Pathol 53:754-63.
- 125. Wobus CE. 2018. The Dual Tropism of Noroviruses. J Virol 92.
- 126. Borrego F. 2013. The CD300 molecules: an emerging family of regulators of the immune system. Blood 121:1951-60.
- 127. Orchard RC, Wilen CB, Virgin HW. 2018. Sphingolipid biosynthesis induces a conformational change in the murine norovirus receptor and facilitates viral infection. Nat Microbiol 3:1109-1114.
- Feng Y, Broder CC, Kennedy PE, Berger EA. 1996. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. Science 272:872-7.
- 129. Alkhatib G, Combadiere C, Broder CC, Feng Y, Kennedy PE, Murphy PM, Berger EA. 1996. CC CKR5: a RANTES, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1. Science 272:1955-8.
- 130. Choe H, Farzan M, Sun Y, Sullivan N, Rollins B, Ponath PD, Wu L, Mackay CR, LaRosa G, Newman W, Gerard N, Gerard C, Sodroski J. 1996. The beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates. Cell 85:1135-48.
- 131. Deng H, Liu R, Ellmeier W, Choe S, Unutmaz D, Burkhart M, Di Marzio P, Marmon S, Sutton RE, Hill CM, Davis CB, Peiper SC, Schall TJ, Littman DR, Landau NR. 1996. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 381:661-6.
- 132. Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Yi Y, Smyth RJ, Samson M, Peiper SC, Parmentier M, Collman RG, Doms RW. 1996. A dual-tropic primary HIV-1 isolate that uses fusin and the betachemokine receptors CKR-5, CKR-3, and CKR-2b as fusion cofactors. Cell 85:1149-58.
- 133. Dragic T, Litwin V, Allaway GP, Martin SR, Huang Y, Nagashima KA, Cayanan C, Maddon PJ, Koup RA, Moore JP, Paxton WA. 1996. HIV-1 entry into CD4+ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC-CKR-5. Nature 381:667-73.
- 134. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW. 2012. HIV: cell binding and entry. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.
- 135. Bragazzi Cunha J, Wobus CE. 2016. Select membrane proteins modulate MNV-1 infection of macrophages and dendritic cells in a cell type-specific manner. Virus Res 222:64-70.

- 136. Saunders-Hastings PR, Krewski D. 2016. Reviewing the History of Pandemic Influenza: Understanding Patterns of Emergence and Transmission. Pathogens 5.
- 137. Alexander DJ. 2000. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Vet Microbiol 74:3-13.
- Swayne DE, Suarez DL. 2000. Highly pathogenic avian influenza. Rev Sci Tech 19:463-82.
- 139. Wang S, Aurora AB, Johnson BA, Qi X, McAnally J, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. 2008. The endothelial-specific microRNA miR-126 governs vascular integrity and angiogenesis. Dev Cell 15:261-71.
- 140. Szretter KJ, Gangappa S, Lu X, Smith C, Shieh WJ, Zaki SR, Sambhara S, Tumpey TM, Katz JM. 2007. Role of host cytokine responses in the pathogenesis of avian H5N1 influenza viruses in mice. J Virol 81:2736-44.
- 141. Langlois RA, Varble A, Chua MA, Garcia-Sastre A, tenOever BR. 2012. Hematopoieticspecific targeting of influenza A virus reveals replication requirements for induction of antiviral immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:12117-22.
- 142. McCall MN, Kent OA, Yu J, Fox-Talbot K, Zaiman AL, Halushka MK. 2011. MicroRNA profiling of diverse endothelial cell types. BMC Med Genomics 4:78.
- Ramkissoon SH, Mainwaring LA, Ogasawara Y, Keyvanfar K, McCoy JP, Jr., Sloand EM, Kajigaya S, Young NS. 2006. Hematopoietic-specific microRNA expression in human cells. Leuk Res 30:643-7.
- 144. Pleschka S, Jaskunas R, Engelhardt OG, Zurcher T, Palese P, Garcia-Sastre A. 1996. A plasmid-based reverse genetics system for influenza A virus. J Virol 70:4188-92.
- 145. Biswas SK, Boutz PL, Nayak DP. 1998. Influenza virus nucleoprotein interacts with influenza virus polymerase proteins. J Virol 72:5493-501.
- 146. Turrell L, Lyall JW, Tiley LS, Fodor E, Vreede FT. 2013. The role and assembly mechanism of nucleoprotein in influenza A virus ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nat Commun 4:1591.
- 147. Margine I, Krammer F. 2014. Animal models for influenza viruses: implications for universal vaccine development. Pathogens 3:845-74.
- 148. Belser JA, Szretter KJ, Katz JM, Tumpey TM. 2009. Use of animal models to understand the pandemic potential of highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses. Adv Virus Res 73:55-97.

- 149. Matrosovich MN, Matrosovich TY, Gray T, Roberts NA, Klenk HD. 2004. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cell types in cultures of human airway epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:4620-4.
- 150. Belser JA, Lu X, Maines TR, Smith C, Li Y, Donis RO, Katz JM, Tumpey TM. 2007. Pathogenesis of avian influenza (H7) virus infection in mice and ferrets: enhanced virulence of Eurasian H7N7 viruses isolated from humans. J Virol 81:11139-47.
- 151. Shin J, Kang S, Byeon H, Cho SM, Kim SY, Chung YJ, Jung SH. 2020. Highly pathogenic H5N6 avian influenza virus subtype clade 2.3.4.4 indigenous in South Korea. Sci Rep 10:7241.

# **Appendix I: Tables**

# Table 2.1. BV2 variant infection phenotypes.

Visual reference of all generated CD300LF variants and their ability to support MNV (CW3) replication when expressed on BV2-KO cells.

CD300LF Variant in BV2-KO	MNV Infection Phenotype	Description
(none)	Resistant	BV2 cells lacking CD300LF
B6/CD300LF	Susceptible	C57BL/6J WT CD300LF
IL/CD300LF	Resistant	I/LnJ WT CD300LF
B6/CD300LF – 7aa	Attenuated	B6/CD300LF mutant with I/LnJ 7aa
IL/CD300LF – 7aa	Susceptible	IL/CD300LF mutant with B6 7aa
B6/CD300LF S174G	Susceptible	Putative glycosylation mutant
IL/CD300LF G174S	Resistant	Putative glycosylation mutant
B6/CD300LF T131A	Susceptible	Putative glycosylation mutant
IL/CD300LF A131T	Resistant	Putative glycosylation mutant
B6/CD300LF - 4aa	Attenuated	B6/CD300LF mutant with I/LnJ 4aa
IL/CD300LF – 4aa	Susceptible	IL/CD300LF mutant with B6 4aa

#### Table 2.2. Alignment of CD300LF Coding Sequences.

Available protein sequences for CD300LF in the indicated mouse line, grouped based on their similarity to the sequence of C57BL/6J or I/LnJ CD300LF. Asterisks indicate an amino acid that is common among all sequences.



## Table 2.2 Continued

Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/J C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILU WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ	1 M M M M M M M M M M	2 H H H H H H H H H H	3 L L L L L L L L L L L L	4 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	5 L L L L L L L L L L L L	6 L L L L L L L L L L L L	7 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	8 P P P P P P P P P P	9 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	10 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	11 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	12 W W W W W W W W W W W	13 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	14 T T T T T T T T T T	15 G G G G G G G G G G G	$\begin{matrix} 16 \\ C \\ $	17 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	18 T T T T T T T T T T	19 A A A A A A A A A A A A	20 E E E E E E E E E E E E Q Q	21 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	22 P P P P P P P P P P P	23 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	24 T T T T T T T T T T	25	26 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	27 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	28 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	29 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	30 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	31	32	33 G G G G G G G G G G G G G	34 P P P P P P P P P P P	35 E E E E E E E E E E E E E
CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ	M M M M	H H H H		s s s s s *				P P P P P	F F F F		F F F F	W W W W	I I I I X	T T T T T	6 6 6 6	C C C C C C C K	C C C C C C C	T T T T T	A A A A A	Q Q Q Q Q	D D D D	P P P P P		T T T T T	- G	- - P -	- - E -	- - E -	- - D -	- - P -	- - V -	- - T -	G G G G	P P P P P	E E E E
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLtJ NZO/HILtJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ A/J CAST/EJJ	36 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	37 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	38 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	39 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	40 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	41 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	42 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	43 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	44 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	45 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L K	46 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	47 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	48 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	49 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	50 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	51 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X	52 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	53 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	54 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G K K	55 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	56	57 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	58 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X X X X X X Y	59 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	60	61 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y X	62 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	63 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	64 QQQQQQQQR RRRR R R R R R	65 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	66 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	67 P P P P P P P P P P Y Y Y Y Y Y P		69 R R R R R R R R R K K K K K K R	70 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/J C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ NZO/HILJ VSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ	71 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	72 K K K K K K K K K E E E E E E D	73 T T T T T T T T T T T I I I I I I I I	74 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	75 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	76 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	77 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	78 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	79 A A A A A A A A A K K K K K K K K K K	80 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	81 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	82 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	83 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	84 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	85 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	86 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	87 N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	88 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	89 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	90 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	91 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	92 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	93 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	94 N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	95 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	96 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	97 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	98 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	99 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	100 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	101 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	102 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	103 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	104 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	105 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILJ NZO/HILJ USB/J USB/J C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ	* 106 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	107 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	108 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	* 109 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	* 1110 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	* 1111 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	* 1112 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	* 113 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	1114 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	* 1115 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	* 116 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	* 1117 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	* 1118 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	* 1119 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	* 120 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	* 121 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	* 122 G G G G G G G G G G A A A A A A A A A	* 123 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	* 124 L L L L L L P P P P P P P P P P P P P	* 125 D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	* 126 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	* 127 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	* 128 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	* 129 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	* 130 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	* 131 T T T T T T T T T A A A A T A T A T	* 132 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	* 133 N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	* 134 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	* 135 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	* 136 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	* 1137 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	138 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	* 139 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	* 140 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V

## Table 2.2 Continued

Strain	141	142	143	144	145	146	147	148	149	150	151	152	153	154	155	156	157	158	159	160	161	162	163	164	165	166	167	168	169	170	171	172
CERDI /CI	- · · ·								- 1.j			0																				
C2/BL/01	Р	1	1	v	P	1	M	Р	Р	1	1	S	1	1	1	1	r	1	v	1	1	1	v	ĸ	Е	1	S	M	г	P	1	L
AKR/J	Р	I	т	V	Р	т	м	Р	Р	I	Т	S	т	т	т	I	F	т	v	Т	т	Т	v	к	E	Т	S	м	F	Р	Т	L
DALD/-I	5	-	Ŧ	×.	- D	Ŧ		- D	- D	-	T	õ	Ŧ	Ŧ	-	-	-	Ŧ	, v	T	Ŧ	Ŧ	17	1/	-	Ŧ	~		-	- D	Ŧ	-
BALB/CJ	Р	1	1	v	P	1	M	Р	Р	1	1	5	1	1	1	1	F	1	v	1	1	1	v	ĸ	Е	1	5	M	F	P	1	L
C57BL/6NJ	Р	I	Т	v	Р	т	м	Р	Р	I	т	S	Т	Т	т	I	F	Т	v	т	Т	Т	v	к	E	Т	S	М	F	Р	Т	L
DDA (OI	D		T	17	D	T		D	D		T	C	т	T			E	T	17	т	т	T	37	12		T	6		E	D	T	
DBA/2J	P	1	1	v	P	1	M	P	Р	1	1	5	1	1	1	1	г	1	v	1	1	1	v	ĸ	Е	1	5	M	г	Р	1	L
FVB/NJ	Р	I	Т	V	Р	Т	м	Р	Р	I	Т	S	Т	Т	Т	I	F	Т	V	Т	Т	Т	v	K	E	Т	S	м	F	Р	Т	L
NODICITU	5	÷	÷	.,	ĥ	÷		ĥ	ĥ	÷	÷	ő	÷	÷	÷	÷	-	÷		÷	÷	÷			Ē	÷	~		Ē	ĥ	÷	-
NOD/ShiLtJ	Р	1	1	v	Р	1	M	Р	Р	1	1	S	1	1	1	1	r	1	v	1	1	1	v	ĸ	Е	1	S	м	г	P	1	L
NZO/HILtJ	Р	I	т	V	Р	т	м	Р	Р	I	Т	S	т	т	т	I	F	т	v	Т	т	т	v	к	E	Т	S	м	F	Р	т	L
	12	-	-	·	-	-		-	-	-	_	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	·	-	-	-	·		-	-	~		-	-	_	-
WSB/EiJ	P	I	Т	v	Р	Т	М	Р	Р	I	Т	S	Т	Т	Т	Ι	F	Т	v	Т	Т	Т	v	K	Е	Т	s	М	F	Р	Т	L
I/I n I	P	т	т	v	P	т	м	P	P	т	т	S	т	т	т	т	F	т	v	т	т	т	v	ĸ	F	т	8	м	F	p	т	т
1/1.115	L L	1	1	v	r	1	111	r	r	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	г	1	v	1	1	1	v	R.	Б	1	3	111	г	r	1	L
C3H/HEJ	P	I	Т	v	Р	Т	м	Р	Р	I	т	S	Т	Т	Т	I	F	Т	v	Т	Т	Т	v	ĸ	E	Т	S	м	F	Р	Т	L
CDA/I	ъ	т	т	V	D	т	м	D	D	т	т	c	т	т	т	т	Б	т	v	т	т	т	37	v	Б	т	c	м	Б	D	т	т
CBA/J	r	1	1	v	r	1	IVI	r	r	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	г	1	v	1	1	1	v	r.	Б	1	3	IVI	г	r	1	L
LP/I	P	I	т	v	Р	т	м	Р	Р	I	т	S	т	т	т	I	F	т	v	т	т	т	v	к	E	т	S	м	F	Р	т	L
	12	-	-		-	-		-	-	-	-	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	<i>.</i> .	-	-	-	<i>.</i>		-	-			-	-	-	-
PWK/PhJ	P	1	Т	v	Р	Т	м	Р	Р	1	Т	s	Т	Т	Т	1	F	Т	v	Т	Т	Т	v	ĸ	E	Т	s	м	F	Р	Т	L
Δ/Τ		-	-	v	P	т	м	P	P	T	т	S	т	т	т	т	F	т	v	т	т	т	v	ĸ	F	т	S	м	F	P	т	T
A/J	-	-	_		-	1	191	1	-	1	-	5	1	1	1	1	1	1		-	1	1		IX.	L	1	5	191	1	-	-	L
CAST/EiJ	Р	I	Т	v	Р	Т	м	Р	Р	I	Т	s	Т	Т	Т	I	F	Т	v	Т	Т	Т	V	ĸ	E	Т	s	V	F	Р	Т	L
				*	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	*	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	*	-	-		-	-	+	+
				^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^	^		^	^	^	^
Strain	176	177	178	179	180	181	182	183	184	185	186	187	188	189	190	191	192	193	194	195	196	197	198	199	200	201	202	203	204	205	206	207
CE2DI /CI	V		D	N	0	11	C	C	C.	D	0	C.	C	0	E	D	0	17	0	D	0	E	T	D	T		17				17	
C57BL/0J	r	3	D	IN	U	п	U	U	U	D	3	U	U	U	E	D	U	v	u	D	U	г	L	D	L	3	v	L	L	r	v	1
AKR/J	Y	S	D	Ν	G	Н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	V	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	V	I
DATE	v		P		C		ć	c	Ĉ	P	c	ć	ć	ć	F	P	ć	17	C	P	ć	г	T.	P			17			р	17	,
BALB/cJ	Ŷ	S	D	N	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	Е	D	Ġ	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	v	L	L	Р	v	1
C57BL/6NI	Y	S	D	Ν	G	Н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	V	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	V	J
DD + (21	v		P		č	17	ć	č	ć	P	c	ć	ć	ć	F	P	ć	v	č	P	ć	F	T	P	T	c	17	T		P	17	,
DBA/2J	Ŷ	S	D	IN	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	ú	G	Е	D	G	v	G	D	G	r	L	D	L	S	v	L	L	P	v	1
FVB/NI	Y	S	D	Ν	G	Н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	V	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	V	J
NOD	÷.	~	-		6		~	~	~	-	~	~	~	~	-	-	~		~	-	~	-	-	-	-	~	÷-	-	-	-		÷
NOD/ShiLtJ	Y	S	D	Ν	G	Н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	V	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	V	1
NZO/HII +I	v	S	D	Ν	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	T.	Р	v	T
	1	5	-		5		2	2	5	-	5	2	-	5	-	-	5		2	-	2	-	-	-	-	2		-	-	-		* *
WSB/EiJ	Y	s	D	N	G	н	G	G	G	D	s	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	s	v	L	L	Р	v	1
I/I n I	l v	S	D	N	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	F	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	т	D	т	S	v	т	т	Р	v	т
1/1.115	1	3	D	14	U		G	U	U	D	5	U	U	U	Б	D	U	v	U	D	U	r	L	D	L	3	v	L	L	r	v	1
C3H/HEJ	Y	S	D	Ν	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	v	I
CDA/I	v	c	D	N	C	п	C	C	C	D	c	C	C	C	E	D	C	17	C	D	C	E	т	D	т	c	17	т	т	р	v	т
CBA/J	I I	3	D	IN	G	п	G	G	U.	D	5	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	г	L	D	L	5	v	L	L	r	v	1
LP/J	Y	S	D	N	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	V	L	L	Р	V	I
DW/V/Db I	v	c	р	N	C	п	C	C	C	D	c	C	C	C	E	р	C	v	C	D	C	F	т	D	т	e	v	т	т	р	v	т
PWK/PIIJ	I	ъ	D	IN	G	п	G	u	G	D	3	u	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	υ	G	г	L	D	L	3	v	L	L	r	v	1
A/J	Y	S	D	Ν	G	н	G	G	G	D	S	G	G	G	E	D	G	v	G	D	G	F	L	D	L	S	v	L	L	Р	v	1
CAST/DI	v	c	р	N	G	ы	G	G	C	D	c	G	G	G	E	D	C	т	G	р	G	Б	т	р	т	c	V	т	т	D	v	т
CASI/ED	1	3	D	14	U	п	U	U	U	D	6	U	U	U	Е	D	U	1	U	D	0	г	L		L		v	L	L	r	v	1
	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Strain	211	212	213	214	215	216	217	218	219	220	221	222	223	224	225	226	227	228	229	230	231	232	233	234	235	236	237	238	239	240	241	242
Strain	211	212	213	214	215	216	217	218	219	220	221	222	223	224	225	226	227	228	229	230	231	232	233	234	235	236	237	238	239	240	241	242
Strain C57BL/6J	211 L	212 L	213 L	214 L	215 L	216 L	217 V	218 A	219 S	220 L	221 F	222 A	223 W	224 R	225 M	226 V	227 R	228 R	229 Q	230 K	231 K	232 A	233 A	234 G	235 P	236 P	237 S	238 E	239 Q	240 A	241 Q	242 S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J	211 L L	212 L L	213 L L	214 L L	215 L L	216 L L	217 V V	218 A A	219 S S	220 L L	221 F F	222 A A	223 W W	224 R R	225 M M	226 V V	227 R R	228 R R	229 Q O	230 K K	231 K K	232 A A	233 A A	234 G G	235 P P	236 P P	237 S S	238 E E	239 Q O	240 A A	241 Q O	242 S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J	211 L L	212 L L	213 L L	214 L L	215 L L	216 L L	217 V V	218 A A	219 S S	220 L L	221 F F	222 A A	223 W W	224 R R	225 M M	226 V V	227 R R	228 R R	229 Q Q	230 K K	231 K K	232 A A	233 A A	234 G G	235 P P	236 P P	237 S S	238 E E	239 Q Q	240 A A	241 Q Q	242 S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ	211 L L L	212 L L L	213 L L L	214 L L L	215 L L L	216 L L L	217 V V V	218 A A A	219 S S S	220 L L L	221 F F F	222 A A A	223 W W W	224 R R R	225 M M M	226 V V V	227 R R R	228 R R R	229 Q Q Q	230 K K K	231 K K K	232 A A A	233 A A A	234 G G G	235 P P P	236 P P P	237 S S S	238 E E E	239 Q Q Q	240 A A A	241 Q Q Q	242 S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ	211 L L L L	212 L L L L	213 L L L L	214 L L L L	215 L L L L	216 L L L L	217 V V V V	218 A A A	219 S S S S	220 L L L L	221 F F F F	222 A A A A	223 W W W	224 R R R R	225 M M M M	226 V V V V	227 R R R R	228 R R R R	229 Q Q Q	230 K K K K	231 K K K K	232 A A A A	233 A A A A	234 G G G	235 P P P P	236 P P P P	237 S S S S	238 E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ	211 L L L L	212 L L L L	213 L L L L	214 L L L L	215 L L L	216 L L L	217 V V V V	218 A A A A	219 S S S S	220 L L L L	221 F F F F	222 A A A A	223 W W W W	224 R R R R	225 M M M M	226 V V V V	227 R R R R	228 R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K	231 K K K K	232 A A A A	233 A A A A	234 G G G G	235 P P P P	236 P P P P	237 S S S S	238 E E E	239 Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J	211 L L L L L	212 L L L L L	213 L L L L L L	214 L L L L L	215 L L L L L	216 L L L L L	217 V V V V V V	218 A A A A A	219 S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L	221 F F F F F	222 A A A A A A	223 W W W W W	224 R R R R R	225 M M M M M	226 V V V V V V	227 R R R R R	228 R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K	231 K K K K K	232 A A A A A	233 A A A A A A	234 G G G G G	235 P P P P P	236 P P P P P	237 S S S S S S	238 E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ	211 L L L L L	212 L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L	215 L L L L L	216 L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W	224 R R R R R R	225 M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K	231 K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G	235 P P P P P	236 P P P P P	237 S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ	211 L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L	221 F F F F F	222 A A A A A A	223 W W W W W	224 R R R R R R	225 M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K	231 K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P	236 P P P P P	237 S S S S S S	238 E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLtJ	211 L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLtJ NZO/HII tI	211 L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLtJ NZO/HILtJ	211 L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILLJ WSB/EiJ	211 L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ	211 L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShLJJ NZO/HLLJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ	211 L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSD/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILUJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C/HLJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J	211 L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PbJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILLJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/FiiJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLU NZO/HILLJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ A/J CAST/EiJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G K K	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G K K	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	2399 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLtJ NZO/HILtJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ C3H/C3 C3	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L 249	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X *	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X 260	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S F F 269	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P X	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P X	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E Z73	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NOJ/ShiLJ NO	211 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L X *	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	$\begin{array}{c} 218\\ A\\ A\\$	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X 260 S	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A X A X A X A X A X A X A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G C S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ A\\ A\\$	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ A/J CAST/EiJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L 249 Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X X 350 A	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V Z 252 L	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F Z 56 Q	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W Z58 R	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R 259 T	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X 260 S	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R 262 G	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R 263 S	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P Z70 S	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P Z711 M	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E 273 S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ A\\ A\\$	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILU WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ A/J CAST/EiJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L 249 Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L A A	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F Z 256 Q Q	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W Z 58 R R	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R T T	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X S S	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R S S	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P S S	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P X T1 M	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E Z 73 S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EIJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EIJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALD/c1	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X A A	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W Z 558 R R R	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R T T	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R S S	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P S S S	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P X	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3T/EJ A/J CAST/EJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L K K K	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F Z Z Z Q Q	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W Z 58 R R R R	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R T T T	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R S S S	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A X A K K	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P Z711 M M	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E Z 73 S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ A/J CAST/EiJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NI	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L 249 Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	2228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A K K K	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ NOD/ShiLJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/GJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M X S S S S	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A K K K K K K K	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S S S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C3T/EIJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A S S S S S	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	2228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A K K K K K K	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G S S S S S S	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P Z 711 M M M M M M	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ ULnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A K K K K K K K K	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J PVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F Z Z Z Z Z Q Q Q Q	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A K K K K K K K K	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E Z73 S S S S S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ S7BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HIL41	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILGJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J C3H/HEJ CBA/J C4/HEJ CBA/J C57BL/6J C57BL/6J C57BL/6J C57BL/6J C57BL/6J C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J C3H/HEJ CBA/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJJ I/LnJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	2222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2338 E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ C4X7EJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	213 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L K K K K	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2338 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J C3H/HEJ CAST/EJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ VSB/EJJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213 \\ L \\ $	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L X A A A A	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2338 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLIJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJJ J/LDJ C3H/HEJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213\\ L\\ L\\$	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2117 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2336 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2338 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ A\\ A\\$	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J CAST/EJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ CBA/J USZ/EJ ULnJ CBA/J CBA/J LP/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213 \\ L \\ $	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2155 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 КККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККК	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2338 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J PVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EiJ I/LnJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213\\ L\\ L\\$	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	2228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 КККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККК	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2366 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NDD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J C3H/HEJ C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213 \\ L \\ $	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2155 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	2227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 КККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККК	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2366 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J DBA/2J NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ I/LnJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213\\ L\\ L\\$	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	215 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	217 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	2228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 КККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККК	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	240 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6NJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J CAST/EiJ Strain C57BL/6J AKR/J BALB/cJ C57BL/6J DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EiJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213\\ L\\ L\\$	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2155 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2177 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	221 F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	2228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	237 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ A\\ A\\$	241 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	242 S S S S S S S S S S S S S
Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/GJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J FVB/NJ NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ Strain C57BL/GJ AKR/J BALB/CJ C57BL/GNJ DBA/2J NOD/ShiLJ NZO/HILJ WSB/EIJ C3H/HEJ CBA/J LP/J PWK/PhJ A/J CAST/EJJ	2111 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	212 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\begin{array}{c} 213 \\ L \\ $	214 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2155 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	216 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	2177 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	218 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	219 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	220 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	$\frac{221}{F}$ F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	222 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	223 WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW	224 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	225 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	226 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	227 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	228 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	229 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	230 K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	231 КККККККККККККККК * 2666 КККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККККК	232 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	233 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	234 G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	235 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	236 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	2377 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	238 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E S	239 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ A\\ A\\$	2411 Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	2422 S S S S S S S S S S S S S

### Table 2.2 Continued

Strain	281	1 28	2 283	284	285	286	287	288	289	290	291	292	293	294	295	296	297	298	299	300	301	302	303	304	305	306	307	308	309	310	311	312	313	314	315
C57BL/	5J E	V	Е	Υ	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	V	S	Υ	Α	Α	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
AKR/J	E	v	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Y	Α	Α	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
BALB/c	J E	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	s	Y	Α	Α	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Y	G	Ν	Т	G
C57BL/6	NJ E	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
DBA/2.	J E	V	E	Υ	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	s	Υ	Α	Α	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
FVB/N.	J E	V	E	Υ	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
NOD/Shi	LtJ E	v	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
NZO/HII	_tJ E	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	s	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
WSB/Ei	J E	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Y	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
I/LnJ	E	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	s	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
C3H/HE	J E	v	E	Y	v	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
CBA/J	E	v	E	Y	v	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	s	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	А	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Y	G	Ν	Т	G
LP/J	E	v	E	Y	v	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	А	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Υ	G	Ν	Т	G
PWK/Pł	JE	V	E	Y	V	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Υ	Α	А	L	Т	L	Α	G	L	G	Q	Е	Р	Т	Y	G	Ν	Т	G
A/J	E	v	E	Y	v	Т	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	Е	Е	v	S	Y	Α	Α	L	Т	L	A	G	L	G	Q	E	Р	Т	Y	G	Ν	Т	G
CAST/E	iJ E	V	E	Y	V	T	М	Α	Р	F	Р	R	E	E	V	S	Y	Α	Α	L	Т	L	A	G	L	G	Q	E	Р	Т	Y	G	N	T	G
	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Strain	316	5 31	7 318	319	320	321	322	323	324	325	326	327	328	329	330	331	332	333	334	335	336	337	338	339	340	341	342	343	344	345					
Strain C57BL/0	316 5J C	5 31' P	7 318 I	319 T	320 H	321 V	322 P	323 R	324 T	325 : G	326 L	327 E	328 E	329 E	330 T	331 T	332 E	333 Y	334 S	335 S	336 I	337 R	338 R	339 P	340 L	341 P	342 A	343 A	344 M	345 P					
Strain C57BL/0 AKR/J	316 5J C C	5 31' P P	7 318 I I	319 T T	320 H H	321 V V	322 P P	323 R R	324 T T	325 : G G	326 L L	327 E E	328 E E	329 E E	330 T T	331 T T	332 E E	333 Y Y	334 S S	335 S S	336 I I	337 R R	338 R R	339 P P	340 L L	341 P P	342 A A	343 A A	344 M M	345 P P					
Strain C57BL/0 AKR/J BALB/0	316 5J C C J C	5 31' P P P	7 318 I I I	319 T T T	320 H H H	321 V V V	322 P P P	323 R R R	324 T T T	325 : G G G	326 L L L	327 E E E	328 E E E	329 E E E	330 T T T	331 T T T	332 E E E	333 Y Y Y	334 S S S	335 S S S	336 I I I	337 R R R	338 R R R	339 P P P	340 L L L	341 P P P	342 A A A	343 A A A	344 M M M	345 P P P					
Strain C57BL/0 AKR/J BALB/0 C57BL/6	316 5J C C J C NJ C	5 31' P P P P	7 318 I I I I	319 T T T T	320 H H H H	321 V V V V	322 P P P P	323 R R R R	324 T T T T	325 : G G G G	326 L L L L	327 E E E E	328 E E E E	329 E E E E	330 T T T T	331 T T T T	332 E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S	335 S S S S	336 I I I I	337 R R R R	338 R R R R	339 P P P P	340 L L L L	341 P P P P	342 A A A A	343 A A A A	344 M M M M	345 P P P P					
Strain C57BL/0 AKR/J BALB/0 C57BL/6 DBA/2	316 5J C 5J C 5J C NJ C J C	5 31' P P P P	7 318 I I I I I	319 T T T T T	320 H H H H H	321 V V V V V V	322 P P P P P	323 R R R R R	324 T T T T T	325 G G G G G G	326 L L L L L	327 E E E E E E	328 E E E E E	329 E E E E E E	330 T T T T T	331 T T T T T	332 E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S	335 S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I	337 R R R R R	338 R R R R R	339 P P P P P	340 L L L L L L	341 P P P P P	342 A A A A A	343 A A A A A	344 M M M M M	345 P P P P P					
Strain C57BL/0 AKR/J BALB/0 C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N	316 5J C 5J C NJ C NJ C J C	6 31 P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P					
Strain C57BL/d AKR/J BALB/d C57BL/6 DBA/2. FVB/N NOD/Shi	316 5J C 5J C 5J C NJ C J C J C LtJ C	6 31 P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P					
Strain C57BL/d AKR/J BALB/d C57BL/6 DBA/2. FVB/N. NOD/Shi NZO/HII	316 5J C J C NJ C J C J C LtJ C LtJ C	5 31 P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T	325 G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P P					
Strain C57BL/d AKR/J BALB/d C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei	316 5J C J C J C J C J C J C LtJ C LtJ C J C	5 31 P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T	325 G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P P P P					
Strain C57BL/d AKR/J BALB/d C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ	316 5J C J C J C J C J C J C LtJ C J C J C LtJ C J C	5 31 P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T	325 G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P P P P H					
Strain C57BL/d AKR/J BALB/c C57BL/6 DBA/2. FVB/N. NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HE	316 5J C J C J C J C J C J C L J C J C J C J C J C	5 31 P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P P P H H					
Strain C57BL/d AKRJJ BALB/d C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N NOD/Shii NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HI CBA/J	316 5J C J C J C NJ C J C LtJ C LtJ C LtJ C J C C U C C U C	5 31 P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P P H H H					
Strain C57BL/d AKRJJ BALB/c C57BL/6 DBA/2. FVB/N NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HH CBA/J LP/J	316 5J C J C NJ C J C LtJ C LtJ C LtJ C J C C U C C C C C	6 311 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P H H H H					
Strain C57BL/d AKRJJ BALB/C C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HE CBA/J LP/J PWK/Pt	316 5J C C J C NJ C J C L J C L J C C J C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	6 311 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V I	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P H H H H H					
Strain C57BL/d AKRJJ BALB/c C57BL/6 DBA/2 FVB/N NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HH CBA/J LP/J PWK/Pł A/J	316 5J C J C J C J C J C J C J C J C J C J C	5 31 <sup>1</sup> P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	3333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P H H H H H H H					
Strain C57BL/ AKR/J BALB/c C57BL/6 DBA/2. FVB/N. NOD/Shi NZO/HII WSB/Ei I/LnJ C3H/HH CBA/J LP/J PWK/PH A/J CAST/E	316 5J C C J C NJ C I I C L J C L L J C C J C C J C C I J C C I J C I I C I I C I I C I C	5 31 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	7 318 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	319 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	320 H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	321 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	322 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	323 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	324 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	325 : G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	326 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	327 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	328 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	329 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	330 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	331 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	332 E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	333 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	334 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	335 S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	336 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	337 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	338 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	339 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	340 L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	341 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	342 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	343 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	344 M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	345 P P P P P P P H H H H H H P H P					



**Figure 2.1. I/LnJ BMDMs resist MNV infection.** Analysis of replication kinetics of MNV (A), EMCV (B), and MHV-68 (C) in C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs. Cells were inoculated at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.05 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at the indicated time points to titer infectious viruses via  $TCID_{50}$  assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean ± SEM. (D) Analysis of MNV replication at 24 hours-post-infection in C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs after inoculation at an MOI of 0.05 and 5 TCID50/cell. The experiment was done twice, and data are presented as dots with mean as a bar. N.D., Not Detected.



Figure 2.2. I/LnJ BMDMs are resistant to different strains of MNV. Analysis of replication kinetics of four different strains of MNV: CR3, RVSS, CW1, and CW3 in C57BL/6J (A) or I/LnJ (B) BMDMs. Cells were inoculated at an MOI of 0.05 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at the indicated time points to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Figure 2.3. I/LnJ BMDMs expressing C57BL/6J CD300LF are susceptible to MNV infection.

(A) Comparison of MNV replication in C57BL/6J and I/LnJ BMDMs transduced with lentivirus expressing EGFP (control) or the C57BL/6J allele of CD300LF. Transduced cells were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 0.05 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-post-infection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. N.D., Not Detected. (B) A representative Western blot of C57BL/6J allele of CD300LF as detected with lentivirus expressing EGFP (control) or the C57BL/6J allele of CD300LF as detected with goat anti-mouse CD300LF (R&D systems, AF2788). \* indicates a non-specific signal in the blot. Actin is included as a loading control. N = 3 replicates.



**Figure 2.4. Identification of seven amino acids determining the functionality of CD300LF as an MNV receptor.** (A) The amino acids sequence for the CD300LF of the indicated mouse strains at the indicated ranges. Boxed sequences denote the amino acid of CAST/EiJ CD300LF that is different from I/LnJ CD300LF but identical to C57BL6J CD300LF. (B) Comparison of MNV replication in C57BL/6J, I/LnJ, or Cast/EiJ BMDMS. Cells were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 0.05 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-post-infection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. The experiment was done twice, and data are presented as dots with mean as a bar. N.D., Not Detected. (C) Comparison of MNV replication in BV2 cells. BV2 cells, BV2 cells with endogenous *Cd300lf* knocked out (BV2-KO), or BV2-KO cells transduced with lentiviruses expressing either C57BL/6J or I/LnJ CD300LF were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 5

#### **Figure 2.4 Continued**

TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-post-infection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. (D) Comparison of MNV replication in BV2-KO cells transduced with WT or 7aa swapped constructs. Cells were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 5 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-postinfection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. N.D., Not Detected. (E) Analysis of surface expression of transduced CD300LF of the indicated background in BV2-KO cells. A representative image from three independent experiments.



Figure 2.5. A cluster of four amino acids determines the functionality of CD300LF as an MNV receptor. (A and C) Analysis of MNV replication in BV2-KO cells transduced with the indicated mutant alleles of CD300LF. Cells were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 5 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-post-infection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. N.D., Not Detected. (B and D) Analysis of surface expression of HA-tagged CD300LF mutants in the indicated cells. Data shown are representative plots from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significance compared to "B6/CD300LF"; ns = not significant.



Figure 2.6. Residues critical for MNV infection occur in the CC'-loop flanking the phospholipid binding pocket of CD300LF. (A) Model showing the orientation of the MNV major capsid protein (VP1) P2 subdomain relative to CD300LF in complex with bound calcium ion. Positions that differ in sequence between B6/CD300LF and IL/CD300LF are colored white or cyan on the B6/CD300LF surface. (B) Close-up of the CD300LF-P domain complex showing the side chain of Asn364 from the P domain DE loop binding to CD300LF in a pocket made by the CC' loop. The carbonyl oxygen of Asn364 coordinates with a calcium ion at the binding interface. A second calcium ion supports the P domain DE loop, holding it against the binding pocket, by bridging Asp410 and Asp366. The four residues in the CC' loop that differ between B6/CD300LF and IL/CD300LF have been labeled with residue numbers in black boxes and their side-chain carbon atoms have been colored in white. The area contributed by these residues is in white on the solvent accessible surface. Most of the hydrophobic pocket shown to bind PC choline is contributed by the CD300LF residues Q68 and R69. Binding of the viral P2 domain to CD300LF is metal ion dependent and requires the DE loop of P2 to associate with the FG and CC' loops of CD300LF through a network of metal ion coordination and hydrogen bonding centered on Asn364. Substitution of the four critical residues in the CC' loop (VPQR to AYWK) almost certainly

# Figure 2.6 Continued

perturbs conformation of the CC' loop, disrupting the receptor binding interface. The four consecutive amino acids in the CC' loop correspond to positions 39-42 in the B6/CD300LF crystal structure (PDB accession 6E48).



Figure 2.7. I/LnJ CD300LF can function as an MNV receptor in a cell type-dependent manner. (Left) Analysis of MNV replication in MEF (A), 293T (B), HeLa (C), BJAB (D), and Jurkat (E) cell lines transduced with the indicated allele of CD300LF. Cells were inoculated with MNV at an MOI of 5 (A, B, C) or 0.1 (D, E) TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell and harvested at 24 hours-post-infection to titer infectious viruses via TCID<sub>50</sub> assay in BV2 cells. Untransduced cells were included as a control. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. N.D., Not Detected. (Right) Analysis of surface expression of HA-tagged CD300LF alleles in the indicated cells. A representative plot from three independent experiments is shown.



Figure 2.8. I/LnJ CD300LF supports MNV attachment in a cell-type dependent manner. Analysis of MNV binding to BV2 cells (A) or BJAB cells (B) expressing the indicated allele of CD300LF. Cells were inoculated at 4°C at an MOI of 2 TCID<sub>50</sub>/cell. 1 hour-post-infection, cells were washed 3 times with ice-cold PBS to remove unbound virus. Cells were lysed with 1mL TRI-Reagent (Sigma) and genome equivalents were determined via qPCR. All experiments were done in triplicate and presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Bars represent ratio of MNV genomes to actin compared to mean KO (BV2) or WT (BJAB).



Figure 2.9. I/LnJ mice are susceptible to MNV infection Viral titer detected in homogenates of the indicated organ 3 days post per-oral inoculation of mice of the indicated genotype with  $1 \times 10^4$  TCID<sub>50</sub> units. Organs were flash frozen upon harvesting and viral titer was determined by TCID50 analysis in BV2 cells. Each point represents a sample from an individual mouse.



Figure 3.1. Targeted H7N7 NP production is restricted upon co-expression of complementary miRNA. A representative Western blot of H7N7 NP production in 293T cells transfected with plasmids expressing the indicated recombinant NP segment and the indicated miRNA. Cells were harvested 48-hours post transfection. Ku is included as a loading control. N = 3 replicates.



Figure 3.2. Targeted H7N7 replication is restricted *in vitro* in a cell type-specific manner. Analysis of replication kinetics of the indicated H7N7 variant in the indicated cell type. Cells were inoculated at the indicated multiplicity of infection (PFU). Samples of supernatant were harvested at the indicated time point to titer infectious viruses via plaque assay in MCDK cells. All experiments were done in triplicates and data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



**Figure 3.3. Infection with targeted H7N7 is comparable to infection with control virus.** Weight change and survival of C57BL/6 mice infected with the indicated virus at the indicated dose. Ten mice per dose per virus were monitored over the course of 10 days. Mice who reached 70% of their starting body weight were sacrificed.



**Figure 3.4. H7N7 variants replicate to similar titers in mouse lungs.** Titers of the indicated virus in lung homogenates from C57BL/6 mice. On the indicated day, mice were sacrificed, and lungs were extracted and immediately flash frozen. Lungs were homogenized in 1mL sterile DMEM + 10% FBS and immediately tittered via plaque assay. Each data point represents a single animal.



**Figure 3.5. H7N7 extravasation to non-pulmonary tissue is rare.** C57BL/6J mice infected with the indicated strain of targeted H7N7 were sacrificed on the indicated day. Organs were immediately extracted and flash frozen. To assess viral titer, organs were homogenized and supernatant was used for plaque assay. Individual data points represent organs extracted from a single mouse.